Scottish Council of the Deans of Education Attainment Challenge Project

Developing pedagogies that work for Pre-Service and Early Career Teachers to reduce the Attainment Gap in Literacy, Numeracy and Health and Wellbeing.

# **Research Question 3:**

# What other practice or research might assist us in our purpose?

June 2020

University of Aberdeen

University of Dundee

University of Edinburgh

University of Glasgow

University of the Highlands and Islands

University of Stirling

University of Strathclyde

University of the West of Scotland















# Contents

Executive summary	3
Project members:	5
Abbreviations:	6
Introduction	7
Links to previous reports	8
Approach	9
1. Teacher preparation in effective pedagogies	11
2. Preparation in literacy pedagogies.	15
3. Preparation in numeracy pedagogies	18
Integrating social justice within mathematics education	18
Programmatic models	19
4. Preparation in health & wellbeing pedagogies	22
Frameworks for health and wellbeing pedagogies	23
Addressing Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs)	24
5. Reframing schooling	26
Building student teachers' pedagogical knowledge of learning spaces	27
Drama as a means of rethinking learning spaces	28
6. Knowledge of the student and their communities	30
Service learning	30
Time and status allocated to community-based experience	31
Nature and extent of staging	32
Reciprocity framing	33
7. Deep professional dispositions	35
Social justice dispositions and values	35
Inquiry as stance: Practitioner Research in ITE	38
8. Targeted teacher education programmes	43
Teach For	43
NETDS (National Exceptional Teaching for Disadvantaged Schools)	44
NEXUS – community-engaged secondary ITE by internship	45
9. Mentoring and induction	49
Professional learning through the mentor/mentee relationship	49
Peer mentoring and networking approaches	50
Quality Teaching rounds.	50
10. COVID 10 recearch	5.4

### **Executive summary**

This report contributes to the Scottish Council of Deans of Education project related to the Scottish Attainment Challenge. It presents a literature review that responds to the third research question of the SCDE collaborative project: What other practice or research might assist us in our purpose? The purpose of this phase was to resource professional conversations and thinking in the teacher education sector, and to inform the final trial phase of the project.

A literature search was undertaken using a range of strategies, to identify published accounts of innovative work from beyond Scotland in the following fields: initial teacher education for high poverty settings; pedagogies in literacy, numeracy and health and wellbeing; mentoring and induction. Each group of studies is summarised under the following themes with their potential for the SAC, ITE programmes and professional learning noted.

**Teacher preparation in effective pedagogies**: This section reviews different attempts to distil effective classroom pedagogies and strategies that make a difference in school outcomes for disadvantaged groups. The three approaches profiled are the Education Endowment Foundation's 'Teaching and Learning Toolkit', the Queensland set of 'Productive Pedagogies' and Alexander's dialogic teaching.

**Preparation in literacy pedagogies**: noting the debates within the literacy field, this section profiles the 'Four Resources Model' for a rich conceptualization of literacy learning to overcome polarized debates, 'Reading Recovery' as a well researched intervention for poor readers in the early year, family literacy programmes for migrant and disadvantaged groups, and the genre approach for literacy learning across curriculum disciplines into secondary education.

**Preparation in numeracy pedagogies**: This sections profiled: 'Creative action methods' as an ITE strategies to engage ITE students with issues of social justice and equity in mathematics classes; a similar model for STEM teachers; Maths Recovery as an intensive intervention for low achieving pupils in early childhood; and the 'Primarily Maths' programmes that supports collegial learning in ITE.

Preparation in health and wellbeing pedagogies: This field is diverse, with strong contributions from Scottish researchers. Other resources such as 'culturally responsive pedagogy' and a 'relational' model of schooling highlight the importance of building strong relationships with the most vulnerable children. A valuable resource summarising the research around 'trauma-informed' practice was identified with links to potential ITE resources on addressing Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs).

**Reframing schooling**: This group of studies question the business-as-usual of schooling curriculum and pedogogy, which is timely given the impact of COVID-19. Approaches

profiled include 'Learning for sustainability', rethinking the spaces, sites and designs of schooling, including the use of drama in education to cultivate engagement and learning.

Knowledge of the student and their communities: Building from findings of the previous research phase, this section considers the research and debates around service learning in ITE. This is an immersive experience to give students more understanding and empathy with high poverty communities. Other models of 'apprenticing', 'community inquiry' and 'community partnership' are also considered for their differently configured relations between ITE student and community.

**Deep professional dispositions:** This section summarises different approaches and processes for cultivating professional dispositions reflecting social justice values that would enable transformative practice in disadvantaged communities. The need for critical reflection on the ITE students' own assumptions is highlighted, and strategies such as scenario-based learning, are included. Then research on practitioner pedagogy is reviewed to explore ways of enriching it an ITE and NQT pedagogy for cultivating research as a professional stance. In both sets, collaboration with other human services students is raised as pertinent to the increasing cross-agency work done in schools.

Targeted teacher education programmes: This section reviews the literature on three ITE programmes designed specifically to prepare students for high poverty settings. The US 'Teach For' model of fast track ITE programmes has had mixed reports in the research, but global impact. In response to critiques of that programme, the Australian 'National Exceptional Teaching for Disadvantaged Schools' has developed an alternative model, embedded in a four year undergraduate degree with strong employment outcomes. The Nexus programme is another Australian model built around paid internships with graduate students.

**Mentoring and induction**: This section reviews studies outlining models of mentoring the NQT and ongoing professional learning, highlighting the value of more dialogic relations and shared enquiry that focuses more on pupils' learning rather than organizational processes. Then the rigorously researched model of Quality Teaching rounds is outlined as a structured process of mutual observations and conversations within a professional learning community in a school.

**COVID-19 research:** The project team was also asked to compile relevant research about the impact of COVID-19 on schools. Reports by UNESCO, the Education Endowment Foundation, the Institute of Fiscal Studies, the Sutton Trust, and a report to Scottish Government by University of Glasgow academics are reviewed, all flagging major concerns about the exacerbation of the poverty-related achievement gap over the lockdown period and beyond, and highlighting the need for thoughtful and equitable 'catch-up' strategies.

References are given for all sources to allow readers to pursue ideas.

### Project members:

This review was compiled by Tanya Wisely and Catherine Doherty (University of Glasgow) with input from the project reference group:

Dr Archie Graham University of Aberdeen

Dr Dean Robson

Professor Teresa Moran University of Dundee

Dr Jim Scott

Mr Derek Robertson
Professor Do Coyle University of Edinburgh

Professor Do Coyle Offiversity of Edition

Dr Laura Colucci-Gray Dr Yvonne Foley

Professor Moyra Boland University of Glasgow

Professor Catherine Doherty

Professor Morag Redford University of the Highlands and Islands

Mr Mark Lindley-Highfield
Dr John l'Anson
University of Stirling

Dr John l'Anson University of Stirling Dr Alison Jasper

Professor Kate Wall University of Strathclyde

Professor Ian Rivers

Dr Stephen Day University of the West of Scotland Mrs Carol Webster

### Abbreviations:

ACE Adverse childhood experiences
CLPL Career-long professional learning
CPD Continuing professional development
EEF Education Endowment Foundation

GCSE General Certificate of Secondary Education

IFS Institute of Fiscal Studies
ITE Initial teacher education

NETDS National Exceptional Teaching for Disadvantaged Schools

NQT Newly qualified teacher PP Productive pedagogies

PLC Professional learning community
SCDE Scottish Council of Deans of Education
SIMD Scottish Index of Multiple Deprivation

SAC Scottish Attainment Challenge UCL University College London

UNESCO United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization

#### Introduction

In February 2015, the Scottish Government launched its Attainment Challenge to tackle the poverty-related attainment gap in Scotland, in particular to improve achievement in literacy, numeracy and health and wellbeing for pupils living in areas of high deprivation. As part of this effort, the Scottish Council of Deans of Education were invited to develop a research agenda in the field of teacher education. In early 2018, funding was secured from the Scottish Government for a three year research programme involving representatives of the eight Schools of Education providing initial teacher education (ITE) across Scotland at that time.

The broad aim informing the suite of projects is to research how the sector might better prepare early career teachers (understood as final year ITE and probationer year) to work more effectively to improve literacy and numeracy attainment and health and wellbeing outcomes in schools serving pupils from SIMD<sup>1</sup> 1-40 backgrounds. Under this common purpose, the research programme has three strands:

- 1. an overarching collaborative project to achieve a perspective across the national sector across phases of audit, evaluation, horizon scan and reform;
- 2. eight research projects conducted by individual Schools of Education reflecting their context and priorities;
- 3. three PhD studentships hosted in the Universities of Edinburgh, Glasgow and Stirling.

This document reports on the third 'horizon scan' question in the collaborative project:

**Research question 3:** What other practice or research might assist us in our purpose?

We will conduct searches of the research and professional literature, and mobilise national and international networks of teacher educators, to identify productive teacher education pedagogies that are not part of our current practice but show promise. This search for new practices will seek to identify pedagogies that can be trialled in Scotland.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> SIMD is the Scottish Index of Multiple Deprivation – see <a href="https://simd.scot/2016/#/simd2016/BTTTFTT/9/-4.0000/55.9000/">https://simd.scot/2016/#/simd2016/BTTTFTT/9/-4.0000/55.9000/</a>

### Links to previous reports

This phase has been developed with consideration of findings from the preceding reports.

The report on Research Question 1 (December 2018) established that the teacher education sector in Scotland already invests considerable effort into cultivating social justice and equity values, professional knowledge and pedagogical skills to support pupil learning in areas of high deprivation. The audit revealed that ITE students engage with a wealth of academic and policy resources, on campus and placement experiences, assessment tasks and professional enquiries to this end, within the limited time and material constraints of their programmes. Professional learning is understood to continue beyond the ITE phase, thus responsibility is shared with employers of probationers. With this local expertise and professional continuum in mind, the literature review is interested in identifying well documented, innovative ITE models and pedagogies from elsewhere, that is, outwith Scotland. It should also be noted that in some of the universities' own projects and the associated PhD projects new approaches are being developed and trialled within Scottish ITE programmes.

The report on Research Question 2 (October 2019) analysed interviews about the strengths and weaknesses of existing ITE programmes with teacher education, headteachers and mentor teachers, newly qualified teachers and their Local Authority employers across Scotland. The findings highlighted the emerging need for: better data literacy; more strategies for working with pupils with additional or complex needs; better pedagogic content knowledge around teaching literacy and numeracy; and more 'life experience' to better understand and work with communities of deprivation. With these identified needs in mind, the literature review has purposefully searched for publications on 'service learning', literacy, numeracy and health and wellbeing pedagogies, and for teacher education models that are specifically designed to prepare teachers to work in poor, disadvantaged communities or 'underperforming' schools.

### Approach

To manage the proliferation of published research in education, systematic reviews attempt to carefully filter publications to meet particular criteria then synthesise the selected research to date. This approach was not considered appropriate for this review because of: a) the wide variety of terms used to express the key concern of poverty/deprivation/disadvantage/equity; b) the premise of multiple deprivation of which poverty may be a symptom or one contributing factor; c) the variety of contexts and regulative frames in the international field of ITE that embed any insights in a particular set of conditions, and d) the search for possible innovative ideas that could be adapted to Scotland's local contexts. In this way, this literature review is interested in collating divergent thinking, not achieving some convergent synthesis.

The search has been carried out through three major strategies:

- 1) inviting project members to suggest references to initiatives they are aware of in their own professional spheres and networks;
- 2) scanning the last five years of key international journals, such as *Teaching Education*, *Teaching and Teaching Education*, *Journal of Teacher Education*, and *European Journal of Teacher Education* for pertinent articles.
- 3) targeted subject searches using key terms such as 'service learning', 'practitioner enquiry', 'Teach First' then subsequent work following up pertinent references in such literature. These searches were undertaken in Google Scholar to access both research and 'grey' literature, with citation counts as a rough indicator of influence in the field.

This report collates and summarises the most pertinent studies in the literature identified under the following themes. The third column in the table indicates substantive foci and key resources identified.

	Theme	Key resources
1	Preparation in	Education Endowment Foundation's 'Teaching and
	effective pedagogies	Learning Toolkit'; 'Productive Pedagogies'; dialogic
		teaching.
2	Preparation in literacy	'Four resources model'; multiliteracies and pluri-
	pedagogies	literacies; International Literacy Association What's Hot
		Report 2020; Reading Recovery; family literacy; genre
		approach.
3	Preparation in numeracy	Creative action methods, Maths Recovery, 'Primarily
	pedagogies	Maths' programme.
4	Preparation in H&WB	Culturally responsive pedagogy; relational model;
	pedagogies	Addressing adverse childhood experiences.
5	Reframing schooling	'Learning for sustainability'; rethinking learning spaces;
		outdoor education; drama in education
6	Knowledge of the student	Service learning, 'apprenticing', community inquiry,
	and their communities	community partnership.

7	Deep professional	social justice and equity orientations; practitioner	
	dispositions	enquiry to cultivate research as stance.	
8	Targeted teacher	Teach First; National Exceptional Teaching for	
	education programmes	Disadvantaged Schools; Nexus.	
9	Mentoring and induction	Mentoring approaches, Quality Teaching rounds	
10	COVID-19 research	UNESCO, IFS report, EEF review, Sutton Trust, Lundie &	
		Law.	

### 1. Teacher preparation in effective pedagogies

This section reviews different attempts to distil effective classroom pedagogies and strategies that make a difference in schooling outcomes for disadvantaged groups. Though coming from different research paradigms, these are resources for general pedagogic knowledge that could potentially inform a teacher education curriculum.

The Education Endowment Foundation (EEF) is a charitable body supported by UK government grants devoted to 'breaking the link between family income and educational achievement'<sup>2</sup> with an emphasis on 'evidence-based' approaches to identify 'what works'. They commission trials of promising innovations, conduct independent evaluations and prepare guidance that is accessible to teachers and school leaders.

Their online **Teaching and Learning Toolkit** (2018)<sup>3</sup> currently offers a list of 35 interventions that have been associated with claims of improved learning outcomes for ages 5-16, and a distillation of available research evidence to support or mitigate such claims. The interventions include changes at the level of school system (for example, Block Scheduling, Built Environment), class level (Setting or Streaming), teacher (Performance Pay) or the child (Aspiration Interventions, Small Group Tuition). Each intervention is reported with an indication of how costly such an innovation may be for a school, the strength of the evidence, and what size impact it is understood to make on learning (expressed as child months of progression). In this vein, Feedback is considered 'high impact for very low cost, based on moderate evidence' and Metacognition is considered 'high impact for very low cost, based on extensive evidence.' Behind each intervention there is more explanation and literature review.

The second concept of 'productive pedagogies' was developed in a large research programme undertaken in the Australian state of Queensland, 1998-2008, when there was a political push to address inequitable schooling outcomes and an effort to rethink curriculum and assessment for the 21<sup>st</sup> century. Building on work by Newmann and Associates on 'authentic pedagogies' in Wisconsin, USA, the Queensland work lists 20 productive pedagogies (Lingard, Hayes, & Mills, 2003) under 4 domains (intellectual quality; connectedness to the world; social support; and recognition of difference):

Intellectual quality	Connectedness to the world	Social support	Recognition of difference
Higher order thinking Deep knowledge Deep understanding Substantive conversation Knowledge as problematic	Knowledge integration Background knowledge Connectedness Problem-based curriculum	Student control Social support Engagement Explicit criteria Self-regulation	Cultural knowledges Representative participation Narrative Group identity Citizenship
Metalanguage			

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> https://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/about/

<sup>3</sup> https://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/evidence-summaries/teaching-learning-toolkit/

Through extensive coding of the strength of these 20 dimensions in nearly 1000 classes across Queensland, it was established that 'teachers score more highly on supportive classroom environment than on intellectual quality, connectedness and recognition of difference' (Lingard, B. et al., 2002, School Reform Longitudinal Study: Final Report, Vol. 1, para. 1.14). This research was then followed by large scale systemic reform and investment in professional learning to improve pedagogical practices and therefore student outcomes. This framework has been taken up and adapted in other settings, including NSW and Singapore, and its outcomes carefully evaluated (Ladwig, 2007; Lingard, Hayes, Mills, & Christie, 2003; Lingard et al., 2002; Luke, Freebody, Cazden, & Lin, 2007; Luke, Freebody, Shun, & Gopinathan, 2005). This work has also been used in teacher education programmes (Gore, Griffiths & Ladwig, 2004; Zyngier, 2007) to provide a comprehensive frame and common vocabulary for teachers' practice that is focused on promoting successful pupil learning, especially for those from disadvantaged or marginalised backgrounds:

the PP framework ... requires a deep commitment to ensuring that both the teacher education program itself and the preparation it provides for beginning teachers are serious about deep understanding of important concepts through meaningful learning experiences that occur in an environment that supports learning and values diversity. (Gore et al, 2004, p. 376)

A third promising approach is Alexander's (2018) **dialogic teaching**. This is a multidisciplinary approach 'to energise classroom talk and thereby enhance students' engagement, learning and attainment in contexts of social and educational disadvantage' (p. 561) developed by Alexander in England, then submitted to a large scale randomised control trial in schools serving disadvantaged children in four UK cities. Dialogic teaching entails professional development that develops 'a broad repertoire of talk-based pedagogical skills and strategies' (p. 563) applied at the teacher's discretion to enrich spoken interactions in class, particularly early years. The approach attends to teacher and pupil talk, and talk amongst pupils:

although student talk must be our ultimate preoccupation because of its role in the shaping of thinking, learning and understanding, it is largely through the teacher's talk that the student's talk is facilitated, mediated, probed and extended – or not, as the case may be (p. 563)

The attention to talk is situated in a model of teaching that is conceptualised through frame, form and act. In this framework, talk can be generated for a variety of reasons and purposes. The approach outlines a wealth of designs for/on talk, but highlights quality and the ultimate importance of cognitive work achieved through dialogue. The deep resource is summarised as aiming to cultivate:

- interactions which encourage students to think, and to think in different ways;
- questions which invite more than simple recall;
- *answers* which are justified, followed up and built upon rather than merely received;
- feedback which, as well as evaluating, leads thinking forward;
- contributions which are extended rather than fragmented or prematurely closed;

- exchanges which chain together into coherent and deepening lines of enquiry;
- *discussion and argumentation* which probe and challenge rather than unquestioningly accept;
- *scaffolding* which provides appropriate linguistic and/or conceptual tools to bridge the gap between present and intended understanding;
- professional mastery of subject matter which is of the depth necessary to liberate classroom talk from the safe and conventional;
- time, space, organisation and relationships which are so disposed and orchestrated as to make all this possible. (pp. 570-571)

The sequences of trials and evaluations conducted by EEF reported that children eligible for free school meals made the equivalent of two additional months' progress in core subjects compared to their peers in control schools, and professional leaders and teachers reported better pupil confidence and engagement. This is very encouraging work that would enrich all learning across any school that invests in the professional development. Similarly its insights could enrich the general pedagogic knowledge in the ITE curriculum.

For the purposes of the Scottish Attainment Challenge, these resources offer

- rich and rigorously researched information on effective pedagogies as potential curricular resources for ITE and professional learning;
- general pedagogic knowledge applicable to any subject area and age group;
- approaches found to be of particular relevance and value to disadvantaged students.

### **References:**

- Alexander, R. (2018) Developing dialogic teaching: genesis, process, trial. *Research Papers in Education*, 33(5): 561-598. DOI: 10.1080/02671522.2018.1481140
- Education Endowment Foundation (2018) Teaching and Learning Toolkit: An accessible summary of the international evidence on teaching 5-16 year olds. Accessed 25 March from <a href="https://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/evidence-summaries/teaching-learning-toolkit/">https://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/evidence-summaries/teaching-learning-toolkit/</a>
- Gore, J., Griffiths, T.& Ladwig, J. (2004) Towards better teaching; Productive pedagogy as a framework for teacher education, *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *20*(4): 375-387. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2004.02.010
- Ladwig, J. (2007). Modelling pedagogy in Australian school reform. *Pedagogies: An international journal*, 2(2), 57-76.
- Lingard, B., Hayes, D., & Mills, M. (2003). Teachers and productive pedagogies:

  Contextualising, conceptualising, utilising. *Pedagogy, Culture & Society, 11*(3), 399-424.
- Lingard, B., Hayes, D., Mills, M., & Christie, P. (2003). *Leading learning: Making hope practical in schools*. Buckingham: Open University Press.
- Lingard, B., Ladwig, J., Mills, M., Bahr, M., Christie, P., & Luke, A. (2002). *The Queensland school reform longitudinal study*. Retrieved from Brisbane: Education Queensland.

- Luke, A., Freebody, P., Cazden, C., & Lin, A. (2007). Singapore pedagogy coding scheme (2004). Retrieved from Singapore:

  https://repository.nie.edu.sg/bitstream/10497/254/1/CORE\_TechRpt04\_CodingScheme\_final.pdf
- Luke, A., Freebody, P., Shun, L., & Gopinathan, S. (2005). Towards research-based innovation and reform: Singapore schooling in transition. *Asia Pacific Journal of Education*, 25(1), 5-28.
- Zyngier, D. (2007). Productive Pedagogies: Seeking a common vocabulary and framework for talking about pedagogy with pre-service Teachers. In T. Townsend & R. Bates (Eds.), Handbook of teacher education (pp. 205-218). Switzerland: Springer.

### 2. Preparation in literacy pedagogies.

Improving literacy outcomes for students in communities of high deprivation is a key priority in the Scottish Attainment Challenge. However, as suggested in the Research Question 1 report for this project, literacy is now a rather complex and contested concept with growing understanding of multi-literacies in other semiotic modes, particularly digital literacy and visual literacy (Cope &Kalantzis, 2009), pluri-literacies across different languages (Garcia, Bartlett, & Kleifgen, 2007), and literacy as social practice rather than just a cognitive process (Street, 1995). There is also the additional distinction between what was historically known as 'functional' literacy and more recent treatments of critical literacy, being the capacity to comprehend the ideological investments informing the text, now considered essential in a post-truth world of proliferating digital texts. Beyond different types and understandings of literacy, there have also been significant politicised debates (Ellis & Moss, 2013) around early literacy pedagogies with 'literacy wars' (Snyder, 2008) pitting advocates of phonics and 'basic skills' against others using more psycholinguistic cuing approaches, 'whole language' approaches, genre-based pedagogy or literature-based approaches.

The 'Four Resources Model' (Freebody & Luke, 1990) was an influential attempt to manage and reconcile these different approaches to literacy into a heuristic composite – each 'resource' being considered necessary but not sufficient in itself: 'A successful reader in our society needs to develop and sustain the resources to adopt four related roles: code breaker ("how do I crack this?"), text participant ("what does this mean?"), text user ("what do I do within this, here and now?") and text analyst ("what does all this do to me?")' (p.7). The authors argued that there is no necessary developmental sequence among the roles. Rather, literacy programmes should seek to build all four roles at any stage of literacy instruction. Public concerns about low levels of literacy achievement, however, tend to reference the code breaker role in early years, and perhaps the text participant role in later years.

Marie Clay's 'Reading Recovery' is perhaps the best known, most widely used, and most researched programme for intervening in poor early literacy achievement in Anglophone nations. Developed in the 1970s, Reading Recovery preceded the new literacy studies mentioned above, and concentrates on alphabetic decoding, comprehension and fluency (Lipp & Helfrich, 2016), that is, the 'code breaker' role. The programme involves daily individualised lessons of 30 minutes with a specialist teacher over approximately 20 weeks in the first years of schooling<sup>4</sup>. Large scale evaluations (Gray, Goldsworthy, May, & Sirinides, 2017) and meta-analyses (D'Agostino & Harmey, 2016) report strong evidence of significant impact on participating students' literacy levels.

The Reading Recovery programme depends on branded training of specialist teachers in a one year part-time course. This raises the question of whether such knowledge and strategies might benefit mainstream classroom teachers (Lipp & Helfrich, 2016) in Attainment Challenge settings. UCL hosts the Reading Recovery Europe centre<sup>5</sup> which maintains a network of training centres, including some listed in Scotland. The International Literacy Association (2020) reports on a large scale survey of its members from 65 different

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>for more information see https://www.ucl.ac.uk/reading-recovery-europe/reading-recovery

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> https://www.ucl.ac.uk/reading-recovery-europe/reading-recovery

countries in its 'What's hot in literacy' report, and highlights that 'According to respondents, the greatest barrier to equity is the variability of teacher knowledge and teaching effectiveness. Throughout the report, respondents cite differences in teacher preparation programmes and the availability of and support for ongoing professional learning and development' (p.7). This could be understood to reflect the diversity of respondents' contexts, but also the contested nature of the concept of literacy and its pedagogies. The majority of their respondents endorsed a 'balanced' approach to literacy pedagogy, drawing from the variety of pedagogical approaches, rather than buying into polarised debates.

Another response to address poor literacy outcomes has been **Family Literacy** programmes (Tett & Crowther, 1998). These initiatives work to increase parent's and children's voluntary engagement in reading and related activities such as reading at home and visiting the library (Kim & Byington, 2016). They also aim to address the 'vocabulary gap' between more and less educated strata of society (Quigley, 2018). These are typically offered in poorer and/or migrant communities for pre-schoolers and resonate with Education Scotland's (2018) 'Family Learning Framework'.

As schooling proceeds, literacy learning has to address the particular demands of content areas and disciplines. The **genre approach** (Christie, 2008; Derewianka, 1990; Martin, 2009) was developed by the Systemic Functionalist school of linguistics as a pedagogy to help students recognise, understand and construct the different kinds of texts required across the curriculum in terms of their different structures, styles and language choices. It involves the 'genre cycle' pedagogy (Rose & Martin,2012) which consists of: building knowledge in the topic field, modelling the kind of text, deconstructing its elements and structure together, jointly constructing a new text discussing what kinds of choices may be better than others, then students independently constructing a text. This attention to disciplinary language and literacy is considered important knowledge for secondary teachers in any subject area (Love, 2010). This sociolinguistic approach is also highly relevant to the needs of ESL learners.

For the purposes of the Scottish Attainment Challenge, these resources offer:

- an elaborated model of literacy to help identify and articulate the dimension or literacy role most of concern;
- a model of a successful but resource intensive intervention programme with well researched credentials and professional training curriculum;
- possible ideas for integrating literacy learning in the Family Learning strategy;
- a pedagogy to continue learning about reading and writing texts across the curriculum in the secondary schools.

#### References:

Christie, F. (2008). Genres and institutions: functional perspectives on educational discourse. In M. Martin-Jones, A. de Mejia, & N. Hornberger (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of language and education* (2 ed., Vol. 3, pp. 29-40): Springer.

Cope, B. & Kalantzis, M. (2009) "Multiliteracies": New Literacies, New Learning, *Pedagogies: An International Journal*, *4*(3), 164-195.

- D'Agostino, J. V., & Harmey, S. J. (2016). An International Meta-Analysis of Reading Recovery. *Journal of Education for Students Placed at Risk*, *21*(1), 29-46. doi:10.1080/10824669.2015.1112746
- Derewianka, B. (1990). *Exploring How Texts Work*. Newtown, NSW: Primary English Teaching Association.
- Education Scotland. (2018). Family Learning framework: Advice for practitioners. Edinburgh: Education Scotland, Retrieved from https://education.gov.scot/improvement/Documents/FamilyLearningFrameworkApril18.pdf
- Ellis, S., & Moss, G. (2013). Ethics, education policy and research: the phonics question reconsidered. *British Educational Research Journal*, 40(2), 241–260.
- Freebody, P., & Luke, A. (1990). Literacies programs: Debates and demands in cultural context. *Prospect: An Australian Journal of TESOL*, *5*(3), 7-16. Retrieved from http://eprints.gut.edu.au/49099/
- Garcia, O., Bartlett, L., & Kleifgen, J. (2007). From biliteracy to pluriliteracies. In P. Auer & L. Wei (Eds.), *Handbook of multilingualism and multilingual communication* (pp. 207-228). Berlin: Mouton de Gruyter.
- Gray, A., Goldsworthy, H., May, H., & Sirinides, P. (2017). Evidence for early literacy intervention: The impacts of Reading Recovery. CPRE Policy Briefs, Retrieved 20 June 2020 from http://repository.upenn.edu/cpre\_policybriefs/82
- International Literacy Association. (2020). What's hot in literacy: 2020 report. Retrieved 1 June 2020 from https://literacyworldwide.org/docs/default-source/resource-documents/whatshotreport 2020 final.pdf
- Kim, Y., & Byington, T. (2016). Community-based family literacy program: Comparing different durations and family characteristics. *Child Development Research*. (online) doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2016/4593167
- Lipp, J., & Helfrich, S. (2016). Key Reading Recovery Strategies to Support Classroom Guided Reading Instruction. *The reading teacher*, 69(6), 639-646.
- Love, K. (2010). Literacy pedagogical content knowledge in the secondary curriculum. *Pedagogies: An international journal, 5*(4), 338-355. https://doi.org/10.1080/1554480X.2010.521630.
- Martin, J. R. (2009). Genre and language learning: A social semiotic perspective. *Linguistics* and Education, 20(1), 10-21.
- Quigley, A. (2018). Closing the vocabulary gap. Abingdon: Routledge.
- Rose, D., & Martin, J. R. (2012). *Learning to Write/Reading to Learn: Genre, Knowledge and Pedagogy in the Sydney School.* London: Equinox.
- Snyder, I. (2008). The literacy wars: Why teaching children to read and write is a battleground in Australia. Crows Nest, NSW: Allen & Unwin.
- Street, B. (1995). Social literacies: Critical approaches to literacy in development, ethnography and education. London: Routledge.
- Tett, L., & Crowther, J. (1998). Families at a disadvantage: Class, culture and literacies. British Educational Research Journal, 24(4), 449-460.

### 3. Preparation in numeracy pedagogies

Numeracy is one of the key target areas for the Scottish Attainment Challenge and a body of research, though not a large one, does examine the integration of social justice or equity-oriented practice in this field. The *Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education* published two special issues on the subject in 2009 aimed at raising the engagement of researchers with the issue.

Turner and Drake (2016) offer a review of research of how ITE students learn about equity considerations in mathematics teaching. They argue that such preparation must explore cognitive understandings of children's mathematical thinking alongside cultural learning to appreciate children's 'cultural funds of knowledge' about maths that they will bring from their social settings. They argue that both these elements, the cognitive and the cultural, 'have been shown to support the learning, participation, and identities of diverse groups of students' (p. 32). In the same way, they acknowledge that ITE students also bring their own orientations, beliefs and practices from their past experiences, and thus build a complex picture of how these different communities of practice intersect in the maths classroom.

More examples below offer informative theoretical and practical dimensions that can be further explored but highlight the need for more sustained and better integrated approaches. Also highlighted in the literature review is the need to establish a shared and coherent theoretical framing among mathematics teacher educators in relation to their interpretations of equity (Lee et al., 2018) or decide whether aspirations are to achieve moderate, liberal or radical social justice, as Gates and Jorgensen (2009) frame it. Swanson et al. (2017) set this as a direct challenge to mathematics educators in Scotland and internationally, to recognise the sociocultural basis of constructions of ability endemic within maths and their profound exclusionary implications (see also Gutstein, 2006; Ernest et al., 2016; Bartell, 2018).

### Integrating social justice within mathematics education

Boylan (2009) explored how a relational approach to integrating social justice within mathematics teaching helped to open up an emotional space for teaching students that could impact on their view of teaching and learning, and how they intended to teach. The process made use of 'Creative action methods' which involve dramatic, interactive and experiential tools to promote high levels of engagement and embodied learning. Students took part in four participative enactments: 1) different styles of maths classroom and 2) different maths teacher, 3) an account of a painful individual history of maths education, and 4) case histories of a diversity of pupils in one classroom. The ITE students then undertook shared and individual critical reflections. While the overall change in students' attitudes and perceptions was positive, he also notes that a minority of students were resistant to the process and did not accept its connection to maths teaching. He interprets this as a conflict with pre-existing maths identities that would also warrant examination. De Freitas and Zolkower (2009) offer another study of specific approaches to addressing maths identities in the context of teacher education.

Boylan does not make transformative claims for the intervention in terms of the depth of social justice understanding developed but offers it as an initial stage. This chimes with Garii and Rule (2009) who examined a social justice intervention across the wider STEM subjects. Students produced posters following an intervention requiring them to develop a set of STEM lessons that integrated one of three aspects of social justice (diversity, system disparities in human communities and stewardship of the earth). They found a surface level of change but proposed that more systemic integration of social justice practice within STEM (and/or mathematics) content development is necessary to engender real change.

### Programmatic models

By way of complete contrast, an alternative perspective is offered by 'Maths Recovery'. This is a programme, initially developed in Australia, that is explicitly designed for students with low attainment rather than addressing attainment within any kind of social context. The name is quite explicit in constructing a learning deficit to be addressed and may be taken as differing in approach to the shared ethos of Scottish teacher education identified in Research Report 1 focused on positive inclusion rather than a difference or deficit-oriented stance. It is based around an intensive programme of 1 to 1 instruction by specially trained tutors who are not classroom-based and generally work with around 20% of pupils in a class, identified through an individual testing scheme. In this way it mirrors aspects of 'Reading Recovery' profiled in the section above.

Maths Recovery is designed for children aged around 6 years old and aims to bring identified 'low attaining' pupils 'up' to a level at which they can function effectively in a 'regular' class setting and appears determinedly neutral on wider pupil circumstances<sup>6</sup>. While Smith et al. (2013) did find some positive impact of the programme after one year, this had disappeared by the second year after the intervention which was concerning given the intensive nature of the programme and expense. The researchers further noted a difference in impact recorded through the programme's own evaluation scheme and externally validated methods with the internal methods showing stronger impact than the external methods after one year but neither of the two approaches demonstrating any sustained impact after two years. The 'fade-out' of effects may not be surprising in itself but undermines the central tenet of the programme that the focused 1-1 interaction and development of transferable strategies at a crucial stage in development will eliminate the need for longer term sustained support. They note that a similar set of findings are evident for the similar 'Reading Recovery' approach focused on literacy. One line of enquiry proposed from these finding centres around the lack of coordination or integration with teaching and learning in the regular classroom setting but, in light of the approaches outlined above, the sense of disassociation of skill from child and social context should also be considered. The work by Smith et al. (2013) does suggest strongly that more systematic investigation should be undertaken if the Maths Recovery programme is considered.

Finally, the 'Primarily Maths' programme described by Shizu Kutaka et al. (2017) was not specifically designed for disadvantaged children or pre-service teachers, but rather for

<sup>6</sup> Smith et al (2013) note that some ad hoc contact between the tutor and the class teacher on curricular matters does appear to take place.

practicing teachers. However, as well as an innovative programme that integrates university-based pedagogical training and practice-based intervention, it offers a very clear delineation and examination of the parameters that teacher education programmes could consider in their preparation of students. These include subject content knowledge, maths anxiety in teachers, and the importance of collegiate relationships and practice. It also addresses the complexity of establishing the impact of such programmes, including the consideration of appropriate timeframes for such assessment and usefully examines how a research intervention may interact with concurrent policy and practice changes.

Other issues pertinent to the teaching of Mathematics include dealing with maths anxiety for pupils, ITE students and teachers (Oppermann, Anders, & Hachfeld, 2016; Schmidt et al., 2018; Stoehr, 2016) and the use of out-of-area teachers to cover Maths classes (Ní Ríordáin, Paolucci & O'Dwyer, 2017).

For the purposes of the SAC project, these sources provide ideas and possibilities around:

- creative ways to integrate consideration of social justice and equity in the preparation of STEM teachers;
- evaluated models of interventions for learners achieving poorly in early childhood Maths. There is perhaps a possibility of inviting ITE students to serve as tutors in such support to mutual benefit;
- a strategy to support and improve the teaching of maths through teacher collaboration.

### **References:**

- Bartell, T.G. (2018). *Toward equity and social justice in mathematics education*. Cham: Springer.
- Boylan, M. (2009). Engaging with issues of emotionality in mathematics teacher education for social justice. *Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education*, *12*, 427-443.
- De Freitas, E. & Zolkower, B. (2009). Using social semiotics to prepare mathematics teachers to teach for social justice. *Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education*, *12*, 187-203.
- Ernest, P., Sriraman, B. & Ernest, N. (2016). *Critical mathematics education: Theory, praxis and reality*. Charlotte, NC: IAP.
- Garii, B., & Rule, A. C. (2009). Integrating and social justice with mathematics and science: an analysis of student teacher lessons. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 25(3), 490–499.
- Gates, P. & Jorgensen, R. (2009). Foregrounding social justice in mathematics teacher education. *Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education*, 12, 161-170.
- Gutstein, E. (2006). Reading and writing the world with mathematics: Toward a pedagogy for social justice. London: Taylor Francis.
- Lee, J., Kim, J., Kim, S., Lim, W. (2018). How to envision equitable mathematics instruction: Views of U.S. and Korean preservice teachers. Teaching and Teacher Education, *69*, 275-288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2017.10.010

- Stoehr, K. J. (2016). Mathematics Anxiety: One Size Does Not Fit All. *Journal of Teacher Education*, *68* (1), 69-84. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487116676316">https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487116676316</a>
- Leavy, A. M., Hourigan, M. (2016). Using lesson study to support knowledge development in initial teacher education: Insights from early number classrooms. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *57*, 161-175. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2016.04.002">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2016.04.002</a>
- Ní Ríordáin, M., Paolucci, C., & O'Dwyer, L. M. (2017). An examination of the professional development needs of out-of-field mathematics teachers. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *64*, 162-174. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2017.02.001">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2017.02.001</a>
- Oppermann, E., Anders, Y.,& Hachfeld, A. (2016). The influence of preschool teachers' content knowledge and mathematical ability beliefs on their sensitivity to mathematics in children's play. Teaching and Teacher Education, *58*, 174-184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2016.05.004
- Schmidt, W. H., Burroughs, N. A., Houang, R. T., & Cogan, L. S. (2018). The Role of Content Knowledge in Mathematics Teacher Preparation: A Study of Traditional and Alternative Teacher Preparation in Texas. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 71(2), 233-246. <a href="https://doi-org.ezproxy.lib.gla.ac.uk/10.1177/0022487118805989">https://doi-org.ezproxy.lib.gla.ac.uk/10.1177/0022487118805989</a>
- Shizu Kutaka, T., Smith, W. M., Albano, A. D., Edwards, C. P., Ren, L., Lynn Beattie, H., Lewis, W. J., Heaton, R. M., Stroup, W. W. (2017). Connecting Teacher Professional Development and Student Mathematics Achievement: A 4-Year Study of an Elementary Mathematics Specialist Program. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 68(2), 140-154. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487116687551
- Smith, T.M., Cobb, P., Farran, D.C., Cordray, & D.S., Munter, C. (2013). Evaluating Math Recovery: Assessing the Causal Impact of a Diagnostic Tutoring Program on Student Achievement. *American Educational Research Journal*, *50*(2), 397-428.
- Swanson, D.M., Yu, H. & Mouroutsou, S. (2017) Inclusion as ethics, equity and/or human rights? Spotlighting school mathematics practices in Scotland and globally. *Social Inclusion*, *5*(3), 172-182.
- Turner, E. E., & Drake, C. (2015). A Review of Research on Prospective Teachers' Learning About Children's Mathematical Thinking and Cultural Funds of Knowledge. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 67(1), 32-46. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487115597476">https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487115597476</a>

### 4. Preparation in health & wellbeing pedagogies

Under the Scottish Attainment Challenge (SAC), 'Health & Wellbeing' is one of the three core focus areas, alongside Literacy and Numeracy. The 'Health and Wellbeing' Experiences and Outcomes in Curriculum for Excellence cover six areas and are supplemented by Benchmarking guidance in three areas<sup>7</sup>. 'Health & Wellbeing' is also a responsibility of all staff, cutting across the curriculum and reflecting the commitment to enabling children to develop as Confident Individuals, Effective Contributors and Responsible Citizens as well as Successful Learners. The centrality of these 'four capacities' has been restated in the recent 'Refreshed Curriculum for Excellence Narrative'<sup>8</sup>. The SAC is also underpinned by Scotland's rights-based approach to children's wellbeing, GIRFEC<sup>9</sup>, and the National Improvement Framework<sup>10</sup>, which has improvement in children's Health and Wellbeing as one of four key priorities<sup>11</sup>.

There was little evidence of the combined term 'Health and Wellbeing' in the literature. There is other work particularly by Noddings (2015) on 'ethics of care' that shares some common interests and concerns. There is also work that is somewhat critical of the 'therapeutic' turn (Ecclestone & Hayes, 2009).

Spratt and Thorburn are Scottish exemplars in this field. Thorburn (2014) traces the development of Scotland's curricular focus on health and wellbeing and its associated curricular guidelines, then its philosophical underpinnings. The author notes both the ambition and the potential of the initiative. Spratt (2016) offers a discourse analysis of how the Scottish policy embedding health and wellbeing across the curriculum is interpreted variously within policy documents and then by policy actors and teachers to demonstrate the chicken and egg relationship between wellbeing and learning. Thorburn (2017) offers a similar design of policy analysis and interviews with policy stakeholders in secondary school contexts to conclude that there was at that stage 'little policy contestation' but 'variable engagement' (p. 737).

<sup>7</sup> 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Note: It is beyond the scope of this review to address these individually. (Es&Os: Mental, emotional, social and physical wellbeing, Planning for choices and changes, Physical education, physical activity and sport, Food and health, Substance misuse, Relationships, sexual health and parenthood. <a href="https://education.gov.scot/Documents/health-and-wellbeing-eo.pdf">https://education.gov.scot/Documents/health-and-wellbeing-eo.pdf</a>; Benchmarking: Food and health, Personal and social education, Physical Education. <a href="https://education.gov.scot/improvement/learning-resources/curriculum-for-excellence-benchmarks/">https://education.gov.scot/improvement/learning-resources/curriculum-for-excellence-benchmarks/</a>)

<sup>8</sup> https://scotlandscurriculum.scot/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> https://www.gov.scot/policies/girfec/wellbeing-indicators-shanarri/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> https://www.gov.scot/policies/schools/national-improvement-framework/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Further context in this category is provided by Scottish Government's revised policy guidance on ethos, culture, relationships and behaviour ( June 2018 <a href="https://www.gov.scot/publications/developing-positive-whole-school-ethos-culture-relationships-learning-behaviour/">https://www.gov.scot/publications/developing-positive-whole-school-ethos-culture-relationships-learning-behaviour/</a>) and review of Personal and Social Education (January 2019 <a href="https://www.gov.scot/publications/review-personal-social-education-preparing-scotlands-children-young-people-learning-work-life/">https://www.gov.scot/publications/review-personal-social-education-preparing-scotlands-children-young-people-learning-work-life/</a>) and an NHS Health Scotland review of health and wellbeing interventions in a school setting that could contribute to reducing inequalities in educational outcomes (February 2018 <a href="https://www.healthscotland.scot/media/1694/reducing-the-attainment-gap-the-role-of-health-and-wellbeing-interventions-in-schools.pdf">https://www.healthscotland.scot/media/1694/reducing-the-attainment-gap-the-role-of-health-and-wellbeing-interventions-in-schools.pdf</a>)

Other relevant approaches were evident coalescing around the cultivation of an ethic of care, 'whole child' approaches and relational and affective involvement in teaching and learning. These are by no means new or innovative approaches; there was more a sense of them having become lost to view within current neoliberal manifestations of education (Conklin and Hughes, 2016). The recent literature then, rather than proposing new approaches, was focused on providing pedagogical frameworks within which current teacher education programmes might better assess and evidence how such approaches are being, or could be, effectively implemented. This chimes with Thorburn's (2017) finding of an array of valuable but disparate and uncollected practice among secondary schools following the introduction of Curriculum for Excellence after 2010.

# Frameworks for health and wellbeing pedagogies

Conklin & Hughes (2016) site their work specifically within the context of attempts to address social justice issues within education, such as the SAC, with the aim of identifying the key features of 'compassionate, critical, justice-oriented' teacher education' (p. 47). They draw on a qualitative study across two university-based teacher education programmes in urban settings in the USA to suggest a framework of dimensions that need to be addressed in teacher education: 1)the development of relationships and sense of community within classes; 2) engaging with student teachers' own experience and attitudes; 3) introducing student teachers to multiple perspectives on viewing the world; 4) providing a vision of 'equitable intellectually challenging teaching' (p. 50). While acknowledging the 'fundamentally messy, human, complex, relational practices' (p.50) they are attempting to systematize, they proceed in recognition that the gains of enabling more systematic and high profile practice addressing these issues are likely to be high. Within each dimension, they also provide a wealth of micro-practices that are likely to be recognisable to many working within initial teacher education in Scotland even if not particularly visible within the research literature.

Warren (2017) examines practice for fostering better relationships through extending student teachers' responsiveness to multiple contexts and perspectives beyond their own experience using a 'culturally responsive pedagogy'<sup>12</sup>. She proposes modelling and supporting students in developing 'empathy operationalised through perspective taking'(p. 169), again proposing a new focus within a combination of already common elements within teacher education programmes – field experiences, critical classroom discourse within taught elements, engaging with literature that centres race and equity across the full teacher education curriculum; and critical self –reflection.

In other studies, te Riele et al. (2017) emphasise a relational model of schooling explicitly framed by concepts of affective justice, affective labour, solidarity between teachers and marginalised young people, and an ethics of care. Importantly they are clear that this must be matched by high quality curriculum and pedagogical practice with both aspects cumulatively vital. They developed this model within an alternative education setting with experienced teachers who had also worked in mainstream settings. Working with student teachers, Fletcher & Baker (2013) found that while they explicitly recognised and valued the

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> This area is also drawn upon in section 6. Knowledge of the student and their communities.

impact of building a sense of community in the classroom on learning while in the context of their teacher education programme, only a few students carried this over into their school context in a meaningful way. The researchers emphasised the need to recognise the additional pressures that act against sustaining such practice. (cf Walker & Gleaves, 2016, who looked at different kinds of distorting effects, in their case on higher education lecturers some of whom, while they felt 'compelled to care', did not integrate this need within their pedagogical practice).

### Addressing Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs).

In the interviews for the Research Question 2 report, some stakeholders felt ITE students could be better prepared in addressing Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs). This reflects the focus on ACEs in relation to the SHANARRI wellbeing indicators<sup>13</sup> at the heart of GIRFEC. This was not an area apparent in the literature reviewed, despite its recent high recent profile in Scotland. Again, it may be a matter of systematizing and researching Scottish practice in this area in order to better understand how it might be integrated within initial teacher education.

A report by Scottish Charity, IRISS, (Smith, 2018) reported that there is limited conclusive evidence on the success of trauma-informed practice, while noting the relevance of these issues to the SAC. The report proceeds to summarise what research has been done, and also gives links to valuable ITE resources<sup>14</sup> in the form of brief videos by Bath Spa University. These resources are based on the premise that '[e]ducators must establish attachment-like relationships with their students, particularly with challenging and vulnerable children and young people, in order to improve their chances of learning and achieving.'

For the purposes of the SAC, the above work documents

- the multiple disciplines and approaches contributing to this developing field;
- the importance of building strong relationships with the most vulnerable children;
- the possibility of modelling H&WB approaches in ITE programmes themselves;
- some valuable resources for use in ITE.

### **References:**

Conklin, H. G., Hughes, H. E. (2016). Practices of compassionate, critical, justice-oriented teacher education. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 67:1, 47-60. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487115607346

Ecclestone, K., & Hayes, D. (2009). *The dangerous rise of therapeutic education*. London: Routledge.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> <a href="https://www.gov.scot/policies/girfec/wellbeing-indicators-shanarri/">https://www.gov.scot/policies/girfec/wellbeing-indicators-shanarri/</a> Safe, Healthy, Achieving, Nurtured, Active, Respected, Responsible, Included

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> https://www.iriss.org.uk/resources/esss-outlines/aces

- Fletcher, T., Baker, K. (2013). Prioritising classroom community and organisation in physical education teacher education. Teaching Education, *26*(1),94-112. https://doi-org.ezproxy.lib.gla.ac.uk/10.1080/10476210.2014.957667
- Noddings, N. (2015). *A richer, brighter vision for Americal high schools*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Smith, L. (2018) *Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs): educational interventions*. Available from <a href="https://www.iriss.org.uk/resources/esss-outlines/aces">https://www.iriss.org.uk/resources/esss-outlines/aces</a>
- Spratt, J. (2016) 'Childhood wellbeing: what role for education?', *British Educational Research Journal*, 42(2), 223-239.
- te Riele, K., Mills, M., McGregor, G., Baroutsis, A. (2017). Exploring the affective dimension of teachers' work in alternative school settings. Teaching Education, *28*(1), 56-71. https://doi-org.ezproxy.lib.gla.ac.uk/10.1080/10476210.2016.1238064
- Thorburn, M. (2014) 'Educating for well-being in Scotland: policy and philosophy, pitfalls and possibilities', Oxford Review of Education, 40(2), 206-222.
- Thorburn, M. (2017) 'Evaluating efforts to enhance health and wellbeing in Scottish secondary schools', *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, 49(5), 722-741.
- Walker, C., Gleaves, A. (2016). Constructing the caring higher education teacher: A theoretical framework. Teaching and Teacher Education, *54*, 65-76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2015.11.013
- Warren, C. A. (2017). Empathy, Teacher Dispositions, and Preparation for Culturally Responsive Pedagogy. Journal of Education, *69*(2), 169-183. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487117712487
- Zembylas, M. (2017). Counter conducts as affective practices in the classroom: the task of pedagogies of affirmative estrangement. Teaching Education, *29*(1), 98-110. https://doi-org.ezproxy.lib.gla.ac.uk/10.1080/10476210.2017.1362551

### 5. Reframing schooling

Concerns and critiques of the performative agenda around schools have currently manifested widely across the world have been dominant in recent literature. Biesta (2019, p.657) exemplifies this in noting the heightened tensions within which schooling now operates:

the modern school is under a relentless pressure to perform and the standards for such performance are increasingly being set by the global education measurement industry. All this puts a pressure on schools, teachers and students but also on policy makers and politicians, who all seem to have been caught up in a global education rat race.

Reframing schooling is however a recurring theme in education research, with Scotland having been involved in many previous iterations of such debates, for example, on child-centred education as far back as the 1960s/70, and with the reframing inherent in the Curriculum for Excellence vision, and the rights-based approach enacted through GIRFEC having gained recognition more recently. Most recently, the impact of COVID-19 school closures has sparked conversations about how schooling will need to be done differently when schools return.

A current theme more within the immediate scope of preparing teachers to work effectively in communities of high deprivation relates to the role of education in the face of global crises of democracy, inequality, climate change and biodiversity loss. This is encompassed in Scottish education policy under the pupil entitlement to 'Learning for Sustainability' (e.g. Leask et al., 2019) which has also gained international profile<sup>15</sup>. In the context of this project this is important as, despite the increased mainstreaming, for example, of the concept of climate justice which recognises the disproportionate impact of climate change on communities of high deprivation, such issues are still sometimes perceived by teachers as primarily of interest to middle class students (Goren and Yemini, 2017).

Project members have highlighted environmental concerns<sup>16</sup> in particular, proposing a focus on siting schooling more firmly both within local places, and within nature and the outdoors as a means of enriching and enhancing pupil engagement within communities of high deprivation (Gray et al, 2019). This proposal is situated within a rich research literature of rethinking learning spaces, including physical school design<sup>17</sup>, which may be of interest in the context of social distancing measures under the global covid-19 pandemic<sup>18</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/1682Shaping%20the%20future%20we%20want

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The more social justice oriented aspects of 'Learning for Sustainability' - global citizenship, political literacy and rights-based education – being more salient in categories 4, 6 and 7 in the context of this review.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> School design is also addressed under 'Learning for Sustainability' and was the focus of a coordinated approach in England under the 'Building Schools for the Future' programme between 2004 and 2010

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Note that place-based schooling and awareness of, and interaction with, local community are explored in Section 6.

Notwithstanding this last point, students within university-based teacher education are unlikely to have a direct role in the redesign of the existing school spaces that they work in during their programme. Byers and Imms (2016) and Goodyear et al. (2018) demonstrate however that, whether a reconfiguration of space be radical or minimal, the impact of any physical changes depend upon developing teachers' capacity and pedagogical knowledge to maximize any space's potential, as well as their openness in the first place to the idea that space and how it might be used is an important variable in their teaching. An obvious corollary here is virtual learning and the opportunity it offers to reimagine how schooling is done.

## Building student teachers' pedagogical knowledge of learning spaces.

As Kollor et al. (2014) point out, designers of new learning spaces should be aware that the promise of their new environment will not be spontaneously realized. (cf Skamp, 2009; Tan & Atencio, 2016, with regard to outdoor spaces). Goodyear et al. (2018) acknowledge that users, in this case pupils and teachers, mostly react unconsciously to their environment and elucidating that experience is complex. They offer a practice-oriented 'actionable knowledge' framework to better facilitate collaboration between users and designers, architects and researchers of learning spaces.

More directly transferable perhaps to the initial teacher education context is McNeil and Borg's (2018) systemic descriptive framework. This was developed through a grounded analysis of an existing body of literature on SCALE-UP and TEAL approaches<sup>19</sup> to understanding and using space in education with the aim of building a more coherent and cumulative research base. The framework articulates elements within three interacting categories: space (including sociopolitical as well as physical-temporal space); teaching approach; and context (including enabling transferability between contexts). While their aim is to support the impact and spread of innovation through a more unified research base, the framework provides a basis for interventions within teacher education programmes. McNeil and Borg (2018) highlight that their approach draws on and aligns with some established methods of language teaching.

Continuing the theme of negotiating space within education, Clark's (2010) MOSAIC framework offers a multi-stage iterative process of observation, reporting, reflecting, acting that is more directed at enriching the interactions in space between all actors (pupils, teachers, parents, communities) and , in the process of design and learning from design, with professionals in that sphere too<sup>20</sup>. Clark draws heavily on the Reggio-Emilia approach which has long been an important influence on the development of early years teacher education in Scotland so that a prime motivation is enabling a focus on the child's perspective. Her methods offer a means of deepening student teachers' understanding and practice with regard to pupil voice which has wide relevance beyond the immediate focus on space.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> SCALE-UP (Student-Centred Active Learning Environment with Upside-down Pedagogies) and TEAL (Technology Enhanced Active Learning, a development out of SCALE-UP) were pioneered by Robert Beichner at North Carolina State University <sup>20</sup> Goodyear et al (2018) are also clear that it is the ways that people interact within a space that define it.

### Drama as a means of rethinking learning spaces

In a similar vein, it is worth noting that drama in education has often been a space where classroom use is disrupted and a different ethos and emotional space can be developed within even traditional set-ups (for example, Prentki & Stinson, 2016). Existing work by drama specialists within teacher education programmes could be explored further as a resource in this context. For example, Goldstein (2008) and Goldstein et al. (2014) use research-informed plays as pedagogic tools to bring issues of minority groups and LGBTQ issues into the ITE curriculum and engage students with rich discussions. The Storylines approach, developed in Scotland, extends this creativity over an extended time-frame, using socio-emotional, as well as physical, spaces (e.g. Bell & Harkness, 2013; Mitchell & McNaughton, 2016; and Hoeg Karlsen et al, 2019, for its use with student teachers in Norway). Evidence suggests it can have a particular relevance for pupils disengaged from the education process (e.g. Steingrimsdottir, 2016).

For the purposes of the Scottish Attainment Challenge, this set of resources offer:

- provocative models of how school learning might be otherwise;
- ways to make space and its design a visible variable in ITE programmes to 4 enrich learning;
- innovative ITE pedagogies to engage students with social justice and equity issues.

#### References:

- Bell, S., & Harkness, S. (2013). *Storyline: Promoting language across the curriculum.* Leicester: The United Kingdom Literacy Association [UKLA]. Minibook 39.
- Biesta, G. (2019) What kind of society does the school need? Redefining the democratic work of education in impatient times, *Studies in Philosophy and Education*, *38*(6), 657-668.
- Byers, T & Imms, W. (2016) Does the space make a difference? (Technical Report) Anglican Church Grammar School & University of Melbourne LEaRN group, available at <a href="http://hdl.handle.net/11343/191354">http://hdl.handle.net/11343/191354</a>
- Clark, A. (2010) *Transforming children's spaces: Children's and adults' participation in designing learning environments.* London: Routledge.
- Clark, H. (2002) Building Education: The Role of the physical environment in enhancing teaching and research (Issues in Practice), London: Institute of Education.
- Goldstein, T. (2008). Performed ethnography: possibilities, multiple commitments, and the pursuit of rigour. In K. Gallgher (Ed.), *The methodological dilemma: Critical, creative, and post-positivist approaches to qualitative research* (pp. 85-102). New York: Routledge.
- Goldstein, T., Gray, J., Salisbury, J., & Snell, P. (2014). When qualitative research meets theatre: The complexities of performed ethnography and research-informed theatre project design. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 20(5), 674-685.
- Goodyear, P., Ellis, R A. & Marmot, A. (2018) 'Learning spaces research: Framing actionable knowledge. In Ellis, R.A & Goodyear, P. (eds) *Spaces of teaching & learning, Integrating perspectives on research & practice*, (pp. 221-238). Cham: Springer.

- Goren, H., Yemini, M. (2017). The global citizenship education gap: Teacher perceptions of the relationship between global citizenship education and students' socioeconomic status. *Teaching and Teacher Education, 67*, 9-22. doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2017.05.009
- Gray, D., Colucci-Gray, L., Donald, R., Kyriacou, A. & Wodah, D. (2019) From Oil to Soil. Learning for Sustainability and Transitions within the School Garden: a project of cultural and social relearning. *Scottish Educational Review* 51(1), 57-70.
- Hoeg Karlsen, K., Lockhart-Pedersen, V., & Breanne Biornstad, G. (2019) '... but, it's really grown on me, Storyline, as practical as it has been': A critical inquiry of student teachers' experiences of The Scottish Storyline Approach in teacher education. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 77, 150-159
- Kollor, I., Pilz, F., & Fisher, F. (2014) Why it is hard to make use of new learning spaces: a script perspective, *Journal of Technology, Pedagogy & Education*, *23* (1): 7-18.
- Leask, K., Christie, B., and Murray, R. (2019) Learning for sustainability: our collective future depends on it, in Arshad, R., Pratt, L., and Wrigley, T. (2<sup>nd</sup> ed) *Social Justice Reexamined: dilemmas and solutions for the classroom*, Stoke on Trent: Trentham Books.
- McNeil, J., & Borg, M. (2017) Learning spaces and pedagogy: Towards the development of a shared understanding. *Journal Innovations in Education and Teaching International*, 55 (2), 228-238.
- Mitchell, P., & McNaughton, M. J. (2016). *Storyline: A creative approach to learning and teaching*. Newcastle upon Tyne: Cambridge Scholars Publishing.
- Mulcahy, D., Cleveland, B. & Aberton, H. (2015) Learning spaces and pedagogic change: Envisioned, enacted and experienced. *Pedagogy, Culture & Society*, 23(4): 575-595.
- Prentki, T. & Stinson, M. (2016) Relational pedagogy and the drama curriculum, *Research in Drama Education: The Journal of Applied Theatre & Performance, 21* (1), 1-12, DOI: 10.1080/13569783.2015.1127153
- Skamp, K. (2009) Understanding teachers' 'levels of use' of Learnscapes. *Environmental Educational Research*, 15(1), 93-110.
- Steingrimsdottir, M. (2016). Storyline and motivation. In P. Mitchell, & M. J. McNaugthon (Eds.), *Storyline: A creative approach to learning and teaching* (pp. 23-35). Newcastle upon Tyne: Cambridge Scholars Publishing.
- Tan, Y. S. M., Atencio, M. (2016). Unpacking a place-based approach 'What lies beyond?' Insights drawn from teachers' perceptions of Outdoor Education. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *56*, 25-34. doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2016.02.001

### 6. Knowledge of the student and their communities

This theme reflects the finding from the Report on Research Question 2<sup>21</sup> that in some stakeholders' opinion, students might be better prepared through the provision of direct experience and involvement within communities of multiple deprivation. This was viewed as one way to broaden the 'life experience' and worldview of those unfamiliar with such circumstances, as well as increasing empathetic understandings.

### Service learning

Service learning is a well documented pedagogy in teacher education that potentially offers such direct, immersive experience within the localities of schools. It requires student teachers to:

- a) participate in an organized service activity that meets identified community needs, and
- b) reflect on the service activity in such a way as to gain further understanding of course content, a broader appreciation of the discipline, and an enhanced sense of civic responsibility. (Bringle & Hatcher, 1995, cited in Barnes, 2017, p. 221)

It is seen as having particular relevance in preparing student teachers to work in communities of deprivation.

The literature review indicated current issues around the idea of 'service' and the degree to which it implies perceived need that is to be met through resources external to the community, that is, an implicitly deficit view. It might be contrasted with more active, empowered framings of 'civic responsibility' or citizenship (Biesta, 2008) centred within communities themselves. In relation to teacher education, this view might favour a 'strength-based pedagogy' of community engagement that brings the lived experience of pupils and their families to the heart of teaching (Borrero & Sanchez, 2017) with the implication that student teachers are not thinking 'about' pupil's communities as a 'backdrop' to the teacher 'delivering' education but about the implications of teaching and learning taking place within and through communities of deprivation and about the place of the teacher within that complex, dynamic system (Vass, 2017). This issue aligns with the possibility of early career teacher experience within communities of deprivation exemplifying for them the distinction between a 'responsive' stance (awareness, understanding and empathy) or a 'proactive' stance (critical perspective on structural contexts, social justice orientation) stances ( see Report on Research Question 1).

The review thus focused on a range of approaches focused on community engagement including and beyond service learning. Insights from research highlighting community-sited interventions addressing 'intersectionality' and 'culturally responsive teaching' also proved relevant. While these bodies of work vary in the extent to which they entail direct experience 'serving' communities of deprivation, they share a powerful focus on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> http://www.scde.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/SCDE-SAC-project-report-Oct-2019.pdf

transforming the world view of student teachers<sup>22</sup> and strengthening recognition of their pupils' wider lived experience in disadvantaged communities as intrinsic to how they learn.

Evidence from across these related approaches suggest their increased knowledge of the students and communities has multiple impacts: enhanced school-community relations; changed beliefs and practices related to teacher and pupil roles and potentialities; heightened awareness of out-of-school lives and interest in the goals, interests, experiences and resources of pupil and their families and communities; development in classroom management strategies; stronger engagement with the socio-political contexts of teaching and learning; understanding of diverse others; enhanced reflective practice; increased confidence in dealing with needs of diverse learners; diminished deficit thinking; increased competence in creating nurturing classroom environments; changed beliefs about the causes of low academic achievement; student teachers better able to consider multiple perspectives; and finally, sustained increased interactions and mutual learning between community members, teacher educators and student teachers.

However, whether such impacts are achieved or not is mediated by a set of factors that could be taken into consideration with regard to Scottish teacher education programmes. These factors are the time and status allocated to community-based experience, nature and extent of staging and of reciprocity framing.

### Time and status allocated to community-based experience

In order for change to take place in pre-service teachers' knowledge of the student and their communities, sufficient time must be devoted to the experience. Barnes (2017) and Seidl et al. (2015) cite evidence that short experiences can reinforce rather than disrupt assumptions, generalisations and stereotypical thinking about communities of deprivation and the pupils living in them. Similarly, insufficient time may consolidate a sense among students that they are there to 'help out' communities rather than to open themselves up to being in, and learning from, the community. Both studies offer exemplars of extended engagement, covered in more detail below, that achieve shifts in attitude and practice.

The effectiveness of community-based learning within teacher education programmes, especially in relation to the practicum, can also be undermined by its perceived low status. That is, if it appears to students to be an add-on or interesting-but-peripheral aspect of the programme then it is unlikely to achieve any lasting influence. Lasen et al. (2015) demonstrated that linking community-based learning specifically to issues of social justice and environmental sustainability tended to validate the experience from students' perspectives. Harfill and Ling Chow's (2018) approach gave community project-based learning the same programme weight and status as the practicum. They found that such project work resulted in a greater increase in the targeted teacher attributes, such as confidence in dealing with diverse learners, than the school practicum.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> It is worth noting caution against teacher educators making their own deficit assumptions about students' perspectives (Seidl, 2015) and/or neglecting to interrogate their own frameworks of reference – both as individuals and to ensure coherence of approach across programme teams (Guðjónsdóttir & Óskarsdóttir, 2020).

### Nature and extent of staging

Effective staging threading a community-based element through a teacher education programme to consolidate learning is also highlighted. A number of researchers explored methods to openup or 'disrupt' processes with student teachers as a means of ensuring community-based learning truly transformed their understanding and practice. Such methods apply before, during and after the community-sited experience. As Seidl et al. (2015) argue, there is 'no quick fix to unlearning ideas, beliefs, and biases' (p. 295).

Seidl et al.'s 'apprenticeships' model integrates critical reflection throughout both the experience and programme elements. This recommendation was motivated by findings that when students are out of their comfort zones in community settings, they can respond with resistance, entrenching rather than confronting biases. Instead, the mediation of the process through shared and individual reflective processes worked to hold and examine moments of tension and discomfort to support transformative change (cf. Messiou & Ainscow, 2015).

Barnes (2017) uses a **'community inquiry'** approach, particularly focused on disrupting student teachers' conceptions of school as a place within the community providing order and a sense of control, and opening them up to conceiving of it as an evolving space of children, their families and wider society, as capable of replicating inequity in society as addressing it. She contends that it is only once students have made this kind of transformative leap in their thinking that they can realistically make use of the understanding gained through community-based learning.

Harfill and Ling Chow (2018) argue that it isn't necessarily a question of moving students from a disinterested stance with regard to community-based experience. They noted that a proportion of student teachers (and teacher educators) actively challenged the idea that community-based learning was a necessary part of becoming a teacher. Their process addressed this need to build student understanding of why it was important.

Similar to Barnes' (2017) similar 'funds of knowledge' framing, asset mapping, and place-based approaches that counteract deficit-thinking about communities of deprivation were also proposed as ways of prompting student readiness to benefit from community-based experience (e.g. Borrero & Sanchez, 2017, Tan & Atencio, 2016). Asset mapping is common practice in wider community empowerment work and engages positively with the lived experience of people within disadvantaged communities, recognising, for example, that their personal qualities and support networks can reflect the resilience and strength that is often assumed missing or in need of 'fixing' amongst people experiencing multiple deprivation. Asset mapping approaches also replace entrenched narratives of pity and blame with narratives around social justice challenging the structural bases of marginalisation.

Intrinsic to Barnes' approach is that sustained impact of community engagement can be maximised when student teachers learn to view the tools of research and enquiry developed in community engagement as an extension of their own professional education repertoire. That is, students will learn from the methods of inquiry and action in community

settings as well as any findings. Studies by Hickling-Hudson and Hepple (2020) and Bowman and Gottesman (2017) similarly offer examples extending professional repertoire, respectively in relation to 'public pedagogy', where student teachers engaged in the development of learning in and through community spaces, and to 'seeing place', through a combination of data use, experience, and place-making methods.

Other researchers propose practices aimed more directly at revealing and disrupting students' underlying assumptions and expectations of pupils in communities of deprivation, and about the role of schooling and teachers within such communities. Gomez and Lachuk's (2019) approach, offering multiple guided opportunities for students to critically talk about their interactions with children and families aims to jolt students into confronting and working with rather than suppressing the messy realities of life (cf Shelton & Barnes, 2016).

## Reciprocity framing

Seidl et al. (2015) note the potential for in-community experience to figure as a version of cultural, or in this case, deprivation 'tourism'. While this can be addressed through time, status and staging, Barnes (2017) highlights a guiding requirement for community experience to be set within a reciprocity framework. This means engagement that is mutually beneficial to student and community grouping, aimed at partnership, building 'relationships ... that are based on connections rather than difference' (Barnes 2017, p. 220), not hands-off exploration.

Hardy and Grootenboer (2016) focused their study on one Primary school serving a low SES community to propose a model for how teacher education might cultivate effective 'community partnerships' that enable students to understand teaching 'as ecologically arranged with other practices within and beyond the physical boundary of the school' (p. 35). This acknowledges complexity but extracts a framework of activities, dialogues and relationship-building across stakeholders within which to situate such work. Messiou and Ainscow's (2015) programme was based within schools rather than university teacher education. However it offers an innovative model where placing the voice of young people at the centre of teacher development could be pivotal in developing genuinely reciprocal relationships across schools and their communities.

The various approaches summarised above raise the following considerations and possibilities of particular relevance to the SAC:

- the benefit of substantial and sustained involvement in community organisations on the basis of reciprocity and partnership;
- the delicate politics around the cultivation of an assets-based approach rather than a deficit approach to communities of high deprivation;
- the importance of carefully guided reflections to process such learning;
- the need to work through student resistance so they understand why they are participating.

#### References:

- Barnes, M. (2017). Encouraging interaction and striving for reciprocity: The challenges of community-engaged projects in teacher education. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 68, 220-231. doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2017.09.004
- Biesta, G. J. J. (2008). What kind of citizen? What kind of democracy? Citizenship education and the Scottish Curriculum for Excellence. *Scottish Educational Review*, 40(2), 38-52.
- Borrero, N., Sanchez, G. (2017). Enacting culturally relevant pedagogy: asset mapping in urban classrooms. *Teaching Education*, *28*(3), 279-295. https://doi.org/10.1080/10476210.2017.1296827
- Bowman, M., & Gottesman, I. (2017). Making the socio-historical visible: A place-conscious approach to social foundations in practice-centered teacher preparation. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 68, 232-240. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2017.09.001
- Gomez, M. L., Lachuk, A. J. (2019). 'The roar that lies on the other side of silence': supporting aspiring teachers in developing dissonance, uncertainty, and compassion for diverse learners. *Teaching Education*, *30*(4), 341-355. <a href="https://doiorg.ezproxy.lib.gla.ac.uk/10.1080/10476210.2018.1486814">https://doiorg.ezproxy.lib.gla.ac.uk/10.1080/10476210.2018.1486814</a>
- Guðjónsdóttir, H., & Óskarsdóttir, E. (2020). Dealing with diversity: Debating the focus of teacher education for inclusion. *European Journal of Teacher Education: Enhancing*, 43(1), 95-109. doi:10.1080/02619768.2019.1695774
- Hardy, I., Grootenboer, P. (2016). Cultivating community: detailing school and community engagement under complex conditions. *Teaching Education*, *27*(1), 21-38. doi-org.ezproxy.lib.gla.ac.uk/10.1080/10476210.2015.1034683
- Harfill, G. J., Ling Chow, J. M. (2018). Transforming traditional models of initial teacher education through a mandatory experiential learning programme. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 73, 120-129. doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2018.03.021
- Hickling-Hudson, A., & Hepple, E. (2020). Crossing the boundaries of imagination: The role of a public library exhibition in global learning for student teachers and teacher educators. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *90*, 102916 (preprint). doi:10.1016/j.tate.2019.102916
- Lasen, M., Tomas, L., Hill, A. (2015). Potential of service-learning to promote sustainability competencies in pre-service teachers: a case study. *Teaching Education*, *26*(4), 341-365. doi-org.ezproxy.lib.gla.ac.uk/10.1080/10476210.2015.1018157
- Messiou, K., Ainscow, M. (2015). Responding to learner diversity: Student views as a catalyst for powerful teacher development? *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *51*, 246-255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2015.07.002
- Seidl, B. L., Monober, G., Conley, M. D., Pedraza Burgos, L., Rivera, H. J., Uchida, C. H. (2015). Multicultural apprenticeships in teacher education. *Teaching Education*, *26*(3), 294-309. https://doi-org.ezproxy.lib.gla.ac.uk/10.1080/10476210.2014.996747
- Shelton, S. A., Barnes, M. E. (2016). 'Racism just isn't an issue anymore': Preservice teachers' resistances to the intersections of sexuality and race. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *55*, 165-174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2016.01.008
- Tan, Y. S. M., Atencio, M. (2016). Unpacking a place-based approach "What lies beyond?" Insights drawn from teachers' perceptions of Outdoor Education. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 56, 25-34. doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2016.02.001
- Vass, G. (2017). Preparing for culturally responsive schooling: Initial teacher educators into the Fray. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 68(5): 451–462.

### 7. Deep professional dispositions

This section considers studies concerned with cultivating teacher attitudes as the deep generative principles, values and dispositions that teachers might bring to their work in schools serving communities of high deprivation or poverty. Two relevant dispositions are considered: the cultivation of social justice values, and the cultivation of research as stance for teachers.

### Social justice dispositions and values

In a large US-centric review of teacher preparation research as historically situated practice, Cochran-Smith and Villegas (2015) mapped the field into three distinct programmes emerging over a changing global economy, the emergence of new theory, and demographic changes. They argue that the third broad programme, 'research on teacher preparation for diversity and equity', has developed in response to the trend of 'increasingly diverse student population and growing school inequality' (p. 10), and increasing concern about the achievement gap: 'While the achievement gap is not new, policy makers' attention to the problem is unprecedented, which is not surprising given the assumption that school achievement corresponds to economic growth' (p.11). In the second part of this review (Cochran-Smith et al., 2015), the authors observed that the driving concern in the majority of studies within this programme was how to interrogate and shift students' deficit views of disadvantaged or diverse groups: 'Many of the studies in this cluster assumed that replacing teacher candidates' deficit views about diversity with affirming or asset-oriented views was an essential step in the process of learning to teach' (p. 114).

In the UK, Wrigley (2012, 2019) offers an historical account of how teachers have understood working-class children and their families as less able and less motivated, then explains how the damage of such low expectations and inequitable practice in effect produces poor achievement. He recommends a cascade of interventions that teachers can pursue in and beyond the classroom informed by social justice values rather than overly moralised actions infused by deficit notions.

Mills et al. (2019) distinguish between 'affirmative' and 'transformative' social justice dispositions of teachers to conclude that 'the challenge for redressing educational inequalities is how to foster a transformative activism in teachers' practices, particularly ... by those who work in schools that are educationally and materially advantaged' (p. 615). They understand disposition as 'the tendencies, inclinations and leanings that provide unthought or pre-thought guidance for social practices' (p. 615). While affirmative activist dispositions seek the amelioration of injustice, a transformative activist disposition seeks to change' the deep structures that generate injustice' (p. 617). Next, they distinguish between activism concerned with internal changes in education system, and activism oriented to external conditions, and acknowledge that the transformative external activist teacher is rare. In regard to the internal-transformative orientation:

to have a more transformative effect in schools, pedagogies need to be informed by the belief that all students bring something of value to the learning environment ...

That is, students and families should be regarded as vibrant and richly resourced, rather than as bundles of pathologies to be remedied or rectified. (p.628)

In related work (Gale, Mills & Cross, 2017), this team conceptualise pedagogic work of both teachers and teacher educators through three interweaving elements - belief, design and action - to argue for 'socially inclusive pedagogy developed from the social justice dispositions of teachers and teacher educators' (p. 346). Such pedagogy is underpinned by a disposition characterised by '(a) a belief that all students bring something of value to the learning environment; (b) a design that values difference while also providing access to, and enabling engagement with, dominance; and (c) actions that work with students and their communities' (p. 348). They task teacher education with the job of cultivating such a disposition.

In their review of Anglophone literature on how teacher education might prepare teachers in such social justice values, Mills and Ballantyne (2016) note that the empirical base is limited to typically small scale, qualitative case studies typically exploring the impact of one course. Their analysis revealed a diversity of approaches to social justice and mixed outcomes of intentional effort to instil social justice values. The review notes a multitude of strategies, such as excursions, reflections, service learning, mentoring programmes, field placements, and how such learning continues across the transition to newly qualified teacher. They highlight the powerful combination of 'experiential approaches to learning combined with reflective tasks' (p. 272) but also the risk of such experiences reinforcing stereotypes and paternalistic attitudes unless the reflection is adequately scaffolded. Similarly, some studies suggest 'participatory [experiences] in which students arrive at their own conclusions by interrogating their own lives and experiences, propelled by educators' ongoing questioning' (p. 273), rather than an overly overt attempt to indoctrinate. Another study supported diversity in ITE placements as formative. They suggest that a significant change can be achieved 'where a coherent approach to addressing social justice issues is central to a teacher education program' (p. 270), but also acknowledge the limited capacity of teacher education to make a difference to student attitudes.

In the US, Agarwal et al. (2010) followed their ITE students into their first years of teaching to see whether the commitment to social justice cultivated in their ITE programme translated into professional practice. Their programme involved:

critical autobiographical analysis, which asks preservice teachers to reflect on their identities and social locations to critique the implicit values, long-held assumptions, and biases that underlie their ways of understanding children, communities, and knowledge ... coursework, literature, and assignments designed to explore issues of power, oppression, equity, and social change. Finally, our preservice teachers are asked to design curricula and lesson plans that integrate marginalized knowledge, allow for civic participation, and provoke students to question discriminatory social norms. (pp. 2-3)

Agarwal et al. followed 12 motivated beginning teachers into their different NQT settings. They reported how their participants felt compromised by the strictures and structures of their settings and the demands of their first year of teaching. The authors recommend that,

rather than invoke unrealistic, idealised examples, ITE programmes offer accounts of beginning teachers' efforts and challenges in enacting social justice in their classrooms: 'These programs might also invite a panel of recent graduates to speak candidly with students about both their trials and their successes' (p.9). They also suggest 1) that in their reflections student teachers be encouraged 'take careful stock of what the students learned and accomplished' (p. 10), not just criticize their own practice against some ideal standard; 2) that ITE curricula expose students to relevant texts, experiences informed by social justice values, and jointly develop lesson plans to show how social justice can be enacted in the classroom.

Boylan and Woolsey (2015), teacher educators in England, discuss the pedagogies found in social justice teacher education, 'principally focused on discomforting taken for granted beliefs and dispositions through challenge and inquiry' (p. 63). The pedagogy of discomfort confronts and unsettles student assumptions about their own position and the reproduction of inequities. The pedagogy of inquiry can similarly unsettle student assumptions as they explore the social premises and injustice. Their study profiles four beginning Mathematics teachers in terms of how they understand and express a position on social justice values in irregular and unpredictable ways. They argue for additional pedagogies of respect and compassion as ways to engage ITE students in more complex, contingent and ongoing processes of negotiating a professional identity in relation to social justice values:

compassion because the identity work needed to negotiate changing identity is uncomfortable and challenging, and respect because identity is rooted in personal histories and given that some of the underlying fixed positions are deeply held ethical positions. By engaging with these ethical stances a deeper dialogue about social justice may be enacted. (p. 63)

A large Scottish mixed methods study by Pantić, Taiwo and Martindale (2019), explored 'the links between student teachers' perceptions of their roles as agents of social justice, and their contextualised practices' (p. 221) on the understanding that professional agency will be refracted and conditioned by context. Their analysis of survey and interview data reported that the student teachers were keen to be agents of social justice but felt unsure about their own competence to do so. The participants could identify both potential actions and potential constraints to progress their social justice values in school contexts (pp. 231-232). The conclusion recommended more treatment on how to act on the theory of social justice, 'opportunities for student teachers to work with other professionals and with diverse families during their preparation could be helpful towards building relevant collaborative skills' (p. 234), the possibility of ITE students collaborating with health or social work students, and the use of 'scenario-based learning' and 'simulation interviews based on real-life social justice scenarios' (p. 234).

This collection of studies and their like reinforce the importance given to this work but also paint a complex picture of whether and how ITE might challenge deficit assumptions that students might bring to their work with disadvantaged communities and cultivate a confident and competent expression of social justice values. For the purposes of the Scottish Attainment Challenge, these resources offer:

- strong emerging consensus that social justice starts with work on self-awareness and reflection on one's own positionality through a pedagogy of 'discomfort';
- awareness that such learning continues on placements and over the transition to NQT status across different contextual settings.
- pedagogic attention also to compassion, and respect of other communities' knowledges and ways of knowing;
- greater confidence in the treatment of social justice across a programme, not just in isolated courses;
- recommendation of practical examples or scenarios pitched at a level appropriate to beginning teachers, rather than more ambitious idealised accounts.

### Inquiry as stance: Practitioner Research in ITE

Practitioner enquiry (or professional enquiry) is now a well established pedagogy in ITE programmes and probationary year in Scotland (Dickson, 2011) and elsewhere (Cochran-Smith, Barnatt, Friedman, & Pine, 2012), justified under a variety of logics. As research in the service of practice, it is considered an essential tool for ongoing professional learning at any career stage producing 'useful knowledge' and fostering teacher meta-cognition devoted to constant improvement (Hall & Wall, 2019, p. 9). It is also considered a valuable path to nurture the profession's engagement with research (Wall, 2018), critical reflection and professional learning communities. Practitioner enquiry can be individual or a collaborative enterprise exploring shared problems (Ermeling, 2010). It has been associated with the move to Masters level ITE qualifications (Dickson, 2011; Gray, 2013) and with teacher professionalisation agendas (Torrance& Forde, 2017). In ITE, the practitioner enquiry has served to model inquiry-based learning as an alternative to knowledge transmission (Gray, 2013), and to cultivate moral dispositions (Lachuk, Gísladóttir & DeGraff, 2019).

A comparative study conducted in the Netherlands and Australia by van Katwijk, Berry, Jansen and van Veen (2019) reported that the ITE students in both countries appreciated the learning they accrued from their practitioner enquiry and value 'the inquiry habit of mind', but 'they did not expect to conduct research in their future teaching jobs' (p. 8). In Scotland, professional enquiry has been embedded in probationer induction programmes (Hulme, Baumfield, & Payne, 2009), constructing inquiry as an ongoing professional stance not just a preparatory exercise:

The emphasis here is on professional education that is about posing, not just answering, questions, interrogating one's own and others' practices and assumptions, and making classrooms sites for inquiry—that is, learning how to teach and improve one's teaching by collecting and analyzing the 'data' of daily life in school. (Cochrane-Smith and Lytle,1999, p. 17)

Cochran-Smith, Barnatt, Friedman and Pine (2012) explored 'how and what teacher candidates learned when they were required to conduct classroom inquiry focused on

student learning outcomes' (p. 17) in the context of a US sector keen to tie teacher education quality to pupil outcomes. This focus resonates with this project's relation to the Scottish Attainment Challenge. Their study involved careful analysis of a diverse sample of student inquiries 'to explore how candidates posed questions, reflected on and analyzed classroom data, and fostered student learning in their classrooms' (p. 21). They found that stronger enquiries posed questions that built from classroom tensions, then 'thoughtfully integrated experience, beliefs, and theories/research into a conceptual framework, rather than simply raising questions about the impact of a particular technique' (p. 22). They characterise this as the difference between asking 'what' and 'why', not just 'how', thus enabling bigger questions about learners and the classroom context that connected with larger theoretical frames:

What consistently distinguished stronger from weaker inquiry papers was the former's capturing the complexity in student learning, matching teaching strategies and measures to broad learning goals, and using the inquiry experience as a springboard for further learning about learning. (p.25)

For Cochrane-Smith et al., the emphasis on student outcomes risked displacing more critical and reflexive questions of social justice and diversity. They judged the stronger papers to have managed both, with a richer, more recursive approach to inquiry compared to the more technical-rationality of the weaker inquiries and their quasi-scientific approach. The authors then turn their findings back on themselves as teacher educators to reflect on their ITE programme and consider how inquiry was presented more as a project for assessment than as a professional disposition. In addition, an overly analytic assessment rubric artificially split the social justice orientation from pupils' learning.

Willegems, Consuegra, Struyven and Engels (2017) conducted a systematic review of 14 English language studies of the empirical case for practitioner research undertaken by ITE students in collaboration with their placement teachers. The majority of studies were from the US, but others from Australia, Canada and Turkey, all typically small scale qualitative studies. They argue that such collaboration relies ultimately on the partnership between school and ITE university. Across the studies, collaboration was usually between mentor teacher and ITE student, but the authors argue that the 'preservice teachers appear to learn more in studies where the collaboration ... follows a design of shared inquiry ... characterized by a less hierarchical collaboration' (p. 242). They also note that the transfer of learning from inquiry to practice needs to be explicitly supported and modelled by the mentor teacher. They note the risk of the ITE student acquiring negative attitudes towards professional inquiry from their mentor teacher. From their review, they conclude that 'the involvement of multiple actors (e.g., teacher educators, social workers) in a non-hierarchical level (shared inquiry) is the most promising for PTs learning' (p. 243), with the teacher educator taking responsibility for creating the sense of 'we': 'If teacher education has the ambition to contribute to equity, we need collaborating teachers who are able to adapt to diverse pupils' needs and make decisions based on inquiry into their pupils' learning.'

Hulme, Cracknell and Owens (2009) report on a hybrid form of practitioner enquiry undertaken through 'trans-professional' collaboration under a policy agenda of integrating children's services in north England. The authors describe the collaborations as 'generative

dialogue' in a 'third space' which enables 'reflections on one's own practice, reflection on the practice of others, and reflection on policy' (p. 538), and challenges disciplinary boundaries and orthodoxies. From their examples of mid-career professionals in health, social work, criminal justice and education collaborating in a shared context of practice, the authors conclude: 'Collaborative multi-professional practitioner enquiry offers a way forward in the development of the shared language and common understandings from which a "trans-professional knowledge base" might grow' (p. 538). They acknowledge the extra difficulty of bringing professionals together, and the need for shared space for groups to develop their questions about practice. This is a promising if ambitious idea that could be of great potential for the Scottish Attainment Challenge given: the multiple forms of contributing deprivation in the communities of interest; schools increasingly engaged in inter-agency work; and stakeholders' recommendation that ITE students would benefit from some exposure to such inter-agency work in this project's previous phase.

For the purposes of the Scottish Attainment Challenge, this literature probes the pedagogic potential of practitioner research for cultivating research as a professional stance and considerations such as:

- carefully shaping enquiries to synthesise larger social justice understandings with the goal of increasing student outcomes to avoid overly technicist approaches to professional enquiry;
- the possibility of using more collaborative models working with the mentor teachers on placement while minimising the hierarchical nature of the relationship;
- considering collaboration with other professionals working with children in high deprivation communities.

- Agarwal, R. Epstein, S., Oppenham, R., Oyler, C., Sonu, D. (2010). From ideal to practice and back again: beginning teachers teaching for social justice. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 61 (3) pp. 237-247. DOI: 10.1177/0022487109354521
- Baan, J., Gaikhorst, L., van't Noordende, J., & Volman, M. (2019). The involvement in inquiry-based working of teachers of research-intensive versus practically oriented teacher education programmes. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *84*, 74-82.
- Boylan, M. and Woolsey, I. (2015). Teacher education for social justice: Mapping identity spaces. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *46*, 62-71.
- Charteris, J., & Smardon, D. (2015). Teacher agency and dialogic feedback: Using classroom data for practitioner inquiry. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *50*, 114-123.
- Cochran-Smith, M., Barnatt, J., Friedman, A., & Pine, G. (2012). Inquiry on inquiry:

  Practitioner research and student learning. *Action in Teacher Education*, *31*(2), 17-32. doi: 10.1080/01626620.2009.10463515
- Cochran-Smith, M., & Lytle, S. L. (1999). The teacher research movement: A decade later. *Educational Researcher*, 28(7), 15-25. doi:10.2307/1176137
- Cochran-Smith, M., & Villegas, A. M. (2015). Framing teacher preparation research: An overview of the field, Part I. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 66(1), 7-20.

- Cochran-Smith, M., Villegas, A. M., Abrams, L., Chavez-Moreno, L., Mills, T., & Stern, R. (2015). Critiquing teacher preparation research: An overview of the field, Part II. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 66(2), 109-121.
- Dickson, B. (2011). Beginning teachers as enquirers: m-level work in initial teacher education. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, 34(3), 259-276.
- Ermeling, B. A. (2010). Tracing the effects of teacher inquiry on classroom practice. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 26(3), 377-388. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2009.02.019
- Gale, T., Mills, C. and Cross, R. (2017) Socially inclusive teaching: Belief, design, action as pedagogic work. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 68(3), pp. 345-356. doi: 10.1177/0022487116685754
- Garii, B., & Rule, A. C. (2009). Integrating and social justice with mathematics and science: an analysis of student teacher lessons. *Teaching and Teacher Education: An International Journal of Research and Studies, 25*(3), 490–499.
- Gray, C. (2013). Bridging the teacher/researcher divide: Master's-level work in initial teacher education. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, *36*(1), 24-38. doi:10.1080/02619768.2012.682648
- Hall, E., & Wall, K. (2019). *Research Methods for Understanding Professional Learning*. London: Bloomsbury.
- Hall, E. (2009). Engaging in and engaging with research: Teacher inquiry and development. *Teachers and Teaching*, *15*(6), 669-681. doi:10.1080/13540600903356985
- Hulme, M., Baumfield, V., & Payne, F. (2009). Building capacity through teacher enquiry: the Scottish Schools of Ambition. *Journal of Education for Teaching*, *35*(4), 409-424. doi:10.1080/02607470903220463
- Hulme, R., Cracknell, D., & Owens, A. (2009). Learning in third spaces: developing transprofessional understanding through practitioner enquiry. *Educational Action Research*, 17(4), 537-550.
- Lachuk, A. J., Gísladóttir, K. R., & DeGraff, T. (2019). Using collaborative inquiry to prepare preservice teacher candidates who have integrity and trustworthiness. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 78, 75-84.
- Mills, C., & Ballantyne, J. (2016). Social Justice and Teacher Education: A Systematic Review of Empirical Work in the Field. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 67(4), 263–276.
- Mills, C., Gale, T., Parker, S., Smith, C. and Cross, R. (2019) Activist dispositions for social justice in advantaged and disadvantaged contexts of schooling. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, 40(5), 614-630. doi: 10.1080/01425692.2019.1582322
- Pantić, N., Taiwo, M. & Martindale, A. (2019) Roles, practices and contexts for acting as agents of social justice student teachers' perspectives, *Teachers and Teaching*, 25(2), 220-239.
- Torrance, D., & Forde, C. (2017). Redefining what it means to be a teacher through professional standards: Implications for continuing teacher education. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, 40(1), 110-126.
- van Katwijk, L., Berry, A., Jansen, E., & van Veen, K. (2019). 'It's important, but I'm not going to keep doing it!': Perceived purposes, learning outcomes, and value of pre-service teacher research among educators and pre-service teachers. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 86, 102868. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2019.06.022
- Wall, K. (2018) Building a bridge between pedagogy and methodology: emergent thinking on notions of quality in practitioner enquiry. *Scottish Educational Review*, 50(2), 3-22

- Willegems, V., Consuegra, E., Struyven, K., & Engels, N. (2017). Teachers and pre-service teachers as partners in collaborative teacher research: A systematic literature review. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *64*, 230-245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2017.02.014
- Wrigley, T. (2012) Rethinking poverty and social class: the teacher's response, in Arshad, R., Pratt, L., and Wrigley, T. (1<sup>st</sup> ed) *Social Justice Re-examined: dilemmas and solutions for the classroom*. (pp. 145-264) Stoke on Trent: Trentham Books
- Wrigley, T. (2019) Education, poverty and social class: Some issues for teachers, in Arshad, R., Pratt, L., and Wrigley, T. (2<sup>nd</sup> ed) *Social Justice Re-examined: dilemmas and solutions for the classroom.* Stoke on Trent: Trentham Books.

## 8. Targeted teacher education programmes

Teacher education in many national settings has become a site of increasing political scrutiny and experimentation as nations seek to both raise standards and address inequitable outcomes under mechanisms of accountability (Cochran-Smith, 2005). This trend has encouraged experimentation in new ITE programme models, new routes into teacher education, and new providers (Kennedy, 2018; Whiting et al., 2018). This section reviews some of the published accounts of teacher education programmes that are explicitly designed to prepare teachers to work in schools in disadvantaged communities.

### Teach For ...

Teach For America emerged as a major game-changer in teacher education, with its moral zeal and truncated provision (Darling-Hammond, 1994) managed by 'a heterogenous mix of public institutions and private sector organisations' (Olmedo et al., 2013, p. 492). It started as a charity in the US in 1990s, backed by business interests which was devoted to improving schooling for the most disadvantaged children. It has since expanded a 'Teach for All' model across the globe, including England and Wales, but is not recognised for registration purposes in Scotland. Teach First (2018, p. 1), the organisation for the UK version, explains its mission as:

- Finding and developing talented people to teach in schools where the need is greatest.
- Supporting schools to access innovations and partnerships that accelerate their pupils' progress.
- Providing professional development opportunities to teachers, leaders and schools so they can increase their impact on pupils.
- Building a movement of teachers, school leaders, social entrepreneurs, policymakers and business people committed to ending education inequality across all areas of society.

These programmes typically recruit a 'corps' of high-achieving students with undergraduate degrees from elite universities, give them five or six weeks preparation before placing them in highly disadvantaged schools to learn on the job while receiving a salary, supported by a certified programme undertaken at a partner university with no associated fee, and the option to continue on to a Masters. The programme incorporates a focus on developing leadership skills as well as professional learning (Muijs, Chapman& Armstrong, 2013).

Research and evaluations of Teach For programmes tend to fall into two groups: those conducted by the organisations and their affiliates; and those conducted by external parties (Parker & Gale, 2017). As an example of the former, Allen and Allnut (2017) report a small but significant positive effect of Teach First graduates on student GCSE grades (p. 627), though acknowledge mitigating factors in the labour market for 'hard to staff' schools. Similarly, Blanford (2014) gives a celebratory account of the programme's partnerships, its ethos and the ambition of its recruits. As an example of the latter external studies, Crawford-Garrett (2017) explores how TeachFirst New Zealand graduates struggle with the

maverick expectations placed on them as novice teachers to redress deeply structural issues and histories. A second study (Crawford-Garrett, 2018) highlights the programmes' overreliance on the psychological concept of 'grit' as an inadequate response to social and historical inequity: 'A disproportionate focus on grit and resilience has the potential to reinforce narratives of meritocracy and exceptionalism while eliding the complex, sociopolitical context in which schooling is nested' (p. 1070). This concern about the nature of the professional learning and the kind of corporate dispositions it cultivates is echoed by others (Hramiak, 2014; Olmedo et al. 2013; Rice et al., 2015; Southern, 2018).

There is a growing literature monitoring Teach For All programmes. In numbers Teach First constitutes an expensive boutique programme in the UK with recurring concerns over retention of its graduates in the profession (Spicksley, 2019). Nevertheless, the effects of such programmes' implicit critique of conventional higher education programmes are evident in the political interest in fast track preparation of teachers in high shortage categories, and in the public discourse around the need to raise the entry level requirements for ITE as the predictor of future quality.

## NETDS (National Exceptional Teaching for Disadvantaged Schools)

The National Exceptional Teaching for Disadvantaged Schools (NETDS) programme has been expanding since 2009 and is now in seven ITE sites across Australia as a strategy to prepare, recruit and retain high quality teachers in high poverty settings (Burnett & Lampert, 2019). It recruits high-achieving pre-service teachers after the second year of their four year undergraduate ITE. These students are recruited not at entry point but on the basis of their grade point average achieved across the first two years of their course. This serves as evidence of strong content knowledge. These students take an on-campus subject dealing with critical theories of education, poverty and socially just pedagogies, then undertake their placements in partnered schools in highly disadvantaged communities. The student cohort and partner schools build a strong collaborative network and employment pathway with the result that 'about 90% of NETDS graduates have been offered teaching positions in low SES schools on graduation' (Burnett & Lampert, 2019, p.41) with good career retention.

The programme was a purposeful response to a) the emergence of alternative routes such as Teach for Australia in the ITE field (Burnett & Lampert, 2019) and their implicit critique of mainstream ITE; and b) the marked tendency of high-achieving ITE graduates to work in more advantaged schools after graduation. NETDS thus differs significantly from the Teach For design in its recruitment, its careful nuanced preparation, its critical sensibilities, and its approach to why quality teaching matters: 'high quality teachers, including those with strong knowledge of their teaching areas, remain crucial to a social justice agenda that provides strong teachers for students who have been historically underserved' (Scholes et al., 2017, p. 22). It offers a value-adding specialism embedded within a mainstream ITE programme. Other researchers have documented the formation of a shared professional identity: 'their sense of selves as emerging professionals planning to work with socially and economically disadvantaged students' (Ailwood and Ford, 2017, p. 66). The development of the NETDS initiative has been supported by philanthropic funding (Lampert & Burnett, 2017).

The NETDS programme has developed an international network with other innovative ITE programmes across Canada, US, Spain, Chile, South Africa and the UK targeting poverty-related disadvantage in the particularities of their own settings. In their edited book, Burnett and Lampert (2016) and chapter authors profile the variety of theoretical approaches to deficit constructions of such students, deal with confounding issues of race and colonialism, focus on literacy, relationships with parents and community, ethnographic explorations of local communities, and structured reflection to challenge teachers' own preconceptions.

Another article (Lampert, Ball, Garcia-Carrion, & Burnett, 2019) contrasts the specific contextualised and intersectional dimensions of 'poverties' in sites in US, Spain and Australia and responsive ITE approaches to create more 'hopeful spaces' (p.62). The US case highlights a process of reflective writing and guided introspection and action-research projects in ITE to generate change in practice. The Spanish 'Schools as learning commutities' case concentrates on the improved outcomes for the Roma population after improving interactions and a dialogic approach with the community and in the classroom.

## NEXUS – community-engaged secondary ITE by internship

Following the successful uptake of the NETDS programme, one of the principal researchers relocated and, with state and Federal Government funding, has collaborated with community organisations to develop a protoptype of 'a highly mentored, scaffolded employment-based teacher education program' called NEXUS (Lampert, Dommers, de Loma-Osario Ricon, & Browne, in press, p. 16). Students are selected on grade point average and by demonstrated commitment to social justice principles. Students of diverse backgrounds are encouraged to apply. The course is designed as a salaried internship over the life of an accelerated 1.5 year Masters programmme to prepare secondary teachers with the dispositions, skills and commitment to work in disadvantaged settings: 'It is an internship where carefully selected participants work as Education Support Workers (teachers' aides) in low socio-economic schools while they complete their Master of Teaching (Secondary).'<sup>23</sup> In their second year, students transition to become full-time teachers in their school with a near full teaching load while completing their course. There are yet to be studies of the programme's outcomes and impacts.

This phased programme is built from an immersive community-engaged approach which embeds teacher education in community services serving marginalised disengaged youth: 'If new teachers are prepared from the beginning to work holistically with communities, new models can emerge that support the most vulnerable students' (Lampert et al., in press, p. 14). The community-engaged approach comes from the work of Zygmunt, Clark and colleagues (Zygmunt, Clark, Clausen, Mucherah, & Tancock, 2016) in the US, whose approach is similar but much more ambitious than that of service learning. By situating teacher education within the community of a high poverty school, and building collaborative, culturally responsive relations between university ITE provider, local school and its community, community-engaged teacher education allows community members to mentor the ITE student and help them understand the funds of knowledge in communities

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> https://www.latrobe.edu.au/school-education/nexus-program

which may be unlike those the student knows. This approach is more activist, more critical and more engaged at the grassroots of community development.

This section has presented three contemporary models of teacher education specifically designed to prepare teachers for high poverty settings. They offer:

- different templates to consider how such ITE is designed and funded;
- examples of how different parties and interest might differently frame what teachers need to know and do to be good teachers of students in high poverty settings;
- different examples of how to build partnerships and who might contribute to teacher preparation;
- provocations to think about who or what makes for 'quality' teaching in these settings.

- Ailwood, J., & Ford, M. (2017). Becoming Exceptional: Exploring selves and assemblages in the National Exceptional Teaching in Disadvantaged Schools program. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 42(4), 5.
- Allen, R., & Allnutt, J. (2017). The impact of Teach First on pupil attainment at age 16. *British Educational Research Journal*, 43(4), 627-646. doi:10.1002/berj.3288
- Blandford, S. (2014). Leading through partnership: enhancing the Teach First Leadership Programme. *Teacher Development*, *18*(1), 1-14. doi:10.1080/13664530.2013.863801
- Burnett, B., & Lampert, J. (2016). Teacher Education for High-Poverty Schools in Australia: The National Exceptional Teachers for Disadvantaged Schools Program. In J. Lampert & B. Burnett (Eds.), *Teacher Education for High Poverty Schools* (pp. 73-94). Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Burnett, B., & Lampert, J. (2019). The Australian national exceptional teaching for disadvantaged schools programme: a reflection on its first 8 years. *Journal of Education for Teaching*, 45(1), 31-46. doi:10.1080/02607476.2019.1550604
- Crawford-Garrett, K. (2017). "The problem is bigger than us": Grappling with educational inequity in TeachFirst New Zealand. *Teaching and Teacher Education, 68*, 91-98. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2017.08.010
- Crawford-Garrett, K. (2018). Lacking resilience or mounting resistance? Interpreting the actions of Indigenous and immigrant youth within TeachFirst New Zealand. *American Educational Research Journal*, 55(5), 1051-1075. doi:10.3102/0002831218769563
- Darling-Hammond, L. (1994) Who will speak for the children? *Phi Delta Kappan,76*(1)21-35.
- Davies, P., Connolly, M., Nelson, J., Hulme, M., Kirkman, J., & Greenway, C. (2016). 'Letting the right one in': Provider contexts for recruitment to initial teacher education in the United Kingdom. *Teaching and Teacher Education, 60,* 291-302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2016.09.003
- Elliott, J. (2018). Teach First organisational discourse: What are Teach First teachers really being trained for? *Power and Education*, *10*(3), 264-274. doi:10.1177/1757743818771393
- Hramiak, A. (2014). Using a cultural lens to explore challenges and issues in culturally diverse schools for Teach First beginning teachers: implications for future teacher

- training. *Professional Development in Education, 40*(1), 147-163. doi:10.1080/19415257.2013.822905
- Kennedy, A. (2018) Developing a new ITE programme: a story of compliant and disruptive narratives across different cultural spaces, *European Journal of Teacher Education*, 41(5), 638-653.
- Lampert, J., & Burnett, B. (2017). Forward to special issue: Teacher education for high poverty schools. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 42(4), 1.
- Lampert, J., Ball, A., Garcia-Carrion, R., & Burnett, B. (2019). Poverty and schooling: three cases from Australia, the United States, and Spain. *Asia Pacific Journal of Teacher Education*, 48(1), 60-78. doi: DOI: 10.1080/1359866X.2019.1602863
- Lampert, J., Dommers, E., de Loma-Osario Ricon, J., & Browne, S. (in press). Australia's Project REAL: Designing a three-way community engagement strategy to serve historically marginalized urban youth. In P. Clark, S. Tancock, & E. Zygmunt (Eds.), Community-engaged teacher education. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Muijs, D., Chapman, C., & Armstrong, P. (2013). Can Early Careers Teachers Be Teacher Leaders? A Study of Second-year Trainees in the Teach First Alternative Certification Programme. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 41(6), 767-781.
- Olmedo, A., Bailey, P. L. J., & Ball, S. J. (2013). To Infinity and beyond ...: Heterarchical Governance, the Teach for All Network in Europe and the Making of Profits and Minds. *European Educational Research Journal*, 12(4), 492-512. doi:10.2304/eerj.2013.12.4.492
- Parker, S. Gale., T. (2017). Teach First, Ask Questions Later: A summary of research on TFs alternative vision of teaching and teachers. Retrieved 20 June 2020 from http://scde.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/TeachFirstReviewParkerGalepaper.pdf
- Rice, S., Volkoff, V., & Dulfer, N. (2015). Teach For/Teach First candidates: what conclusions do they draw from their time in teaching? *Teachers and Teaching*, *21*(5), 497-513. doi:10.1080/13540602.2014.995474
- Scholes, L., Lampert, J., Burnett, B., Comber, B. M., Hoff, L., & Ferguson, A. (2017). The Politics of Quality Teacher Discourses: Implications for Pre-Service Teachers in High Poverty Schools. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 42(4), 19-43.
- Southern, A. (2018). Disrupting the habitus? Media representations and participant experience of Teach First: an exploratory case study in Wales. *Teachers and Teaching*, *24*(5), 584-597. doi:10.1080/13540602.2018.1435526
- Spicksley, K. (2019). Teach first: what is it doing? *Practice*, 1(1), 9-20. doi:10.1080/25783858.2019.1589990
- Takayama, K., Jones, T., & Amazan, R. (2017). Thinking with/through the contradictions of social justice in teacher education: Self-reflection on NETDS experience. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 42(4), 84-96.
- Teach First. (2016). *The Progression Report: Empowering school-leavers to make informed choices.* Retrieved 20 June 2020 from <a href="https://www.teachfirst.org.uk/sites/default/files/2019-08/the\_progression\_report.pdf">https://www.teachfirst.org.uk/sites/default/files/2019-08/the\_progression\_report.pdf</a>
- Teach First. (2018). Leading Together: Why supporting school leadership matters. Retrieved 20 June 2020 from https://www.teachfirst.org.uk/sites/default/files/2019-08/teach\_first\_leading\_together\_report\_2018\_single\_pages\_0.pdf

- Whiting, C., Whitty, G., Menter, I., Black, P., Hordern, J., Parfitt, A., Reynolds, K., Sorensen, N. (2018). Diversity and complexity: Becoming a teacher in England in 2015–2016. *Review of Education*, 6(1), 69-96. doi:10.1002/rev3.3108
- Zygmunt, E., Clark, P., Clausen, J., Mucherah, W., & Tancock, S. (2016). *Transforming teacher education for social justice,* New York: Teachers College Press.

## 9. Mentoring and induction

When the ITE graduate moves into their Probationer year, their process of becoming a teacher and professional learning continues. This section profiles innovative approaches to mentoring, induction and professional learning. The elements included in this section reflect the recommendations of the Donaldson (2011) review that teacher education in Scotland could be better understood as a career-long continuum rather than as discrete phases, with initial teacher education and the induction year better integrated through sustained connections between university, school and local authority employers. Continuing professional development (CPD) was re-conceived as career-long professional learning (CLPL). Webster-Wright (2009, p. 703) explains the difference between the latter two terms by positioning professional learning as 'continuing, active, social, and related to practice.'

In Scotland, the mentoring role is a formal component within the probationer year but in the international field, a mentor may be appointed within teacher education programmes in a variety of ways and stages. The examples drawn therefore focus on general aspects of the mentor/mentee relationship that may be useful, both in induction and in other mentoring interactions that may occur between student teachers and teacher educators, placement teachers or school leaders.

Mentoring is generally understood as having three general dimensions: supporting the adjustment process of the first teaching post; helping new teachers tackle specific problems that may arise in that first year; enhancing their continuing learning, for example, through observation and feedback (Beek et al., 2019). Without sufficient preparation and effective mentoring support, the 'reality shock 'of this first transition may be magnified for new teachers working within communities of high deprivation, both in terms of the specific context, and in terms of the requirements of the Attainment Challenge. The reviewed literature did not offer a focus on the particularity of mentoring within such contexts so the examples below are more reflective of generic mentoring innovations that may be seen as relevant by virtue of enhancing effective preparation overall.

## Professional learning through the mentor/mentee relationship

Beek et al. (2019) and Hoffman et al. (2015) highlight that the mentor's role of enhancing professional learning appears to be the more limited aspect in practice. Trevethan and Sandretto (2017) note this lack not only in relation to the mentee. They contend that a lack of awareness, or at least lack of formalisation, of the learning offered by being a mentor marks a missed opportunity for the development of teacher education through praxis.

Wetzel et al. (2017) exemplifies a reflective practice approach used to move from a transmission model of mentoring to one where the development of both participants is enriched by the mentor also putting themselves within the learning frame. The authors propose a dialogue focused 'CARE' model:

- C. the critical conscious examination of our beliefs and practices;
- A. the appreciative stances towards mentees and students;
- R. reflection to learn, make decisions and plan for action; and
- E. experiential learning through genuine teaching that matters for learners. (p. 408)

Wetzel et al. (2017) then conducted a case study within an innovative teacher education programme that pairs ITE students with in-service teachers undergoing more advanced masters study. The model enabled pre- and post- discussions around an observation of classroom practice which was used by the mentor to reframe and sustain the relationship between them as co-learners and co-teachers rather than expert/novice. This design resonates with the collaborative professional enquiries suggested in Section 7. The study also acknowledges how external factors, such as the need to perform an evaluative as well as mentoring role, often mitigate against the development of a more equal relationship and suggests means of countering this through interrogating these issues within the mentoring intervention (see also Naidoo & Kirch, 2016).

Helgevold et al. (2015) note the tendency of mentoring relationships to focus on instructions and organisation, then examine how to shift such relationships from a 'doing' focus to one that is more centred on pupils and their learning. Lesson study (e.g. Dudley 2013) was seen as an effective tool for enabling this reorientation within mentoring practice. Lesson study privileges an inquiry stance within lesson planning but also embeds collaboration among teachers in its process. This resonates with the Quality Teaching rounds discussed below.

# Peer mentoring and networking approaches

Alternative approaches to mentoring applicable to both initial teacher education and induction include the development of peer mentoring and teacher networks. Behizadeh and Behm Cross (2017) situate their work specifically within the context of 'urban schools with historically underserved youth' (p 280). They examined the impacts of 'Critical Friendship Groups' in which all participants in the groups articulated benefits from the process. A key change noted was student teachers within their individual contexts moving to reframe deficit views towards their pupils as pedagogical or teacher/pupil relationship issues.

Korhonen et al. (2017) outlines a new Finnish model of teacher education employing a **peer-group mentoring** approach. Their results were mixed with some students dismissive of the approach while others valued it in different ways: for providing peer support, a means of developing one's teacher identity, or seeing themselves within a community of professionals. These researchers were focused on developing better integration of theory and practice through their design. As a new approach, it would be worth tracking its development for lessons for Scottish ITE. Another study of this model (Geeraerts et al., 2015) produced self-reported impacts on students' development of skills and knowledge, strengthening of professional identity, and development of a work community. Ahn (2016) similarly outlines a communal approach to teacher development in Japan.

### Quality Teaching rounds.

Working from Newmann and Associates (1996) authentic pedagogy categories and the medical pedagogy of clinical rounds, Gore and colleagues have developed, trialled and rigorously evaluated the concept and practice of collaborative 'Quality Teaching rounds' for professional learning (Bowe and Gore, 2017). Quality Teaching Rounds are a structured

sequence of mutual observations and professional conversations shared by a professional learning community (PLC) being a group of teachers of mixed experience including novice teachers. Each round has three elements:

- 1. discussion of a professional reading, chosen by a PLC member, which is designed to support the group in developing a shared basis for their professional conversations, learning more about each other's beliefs and values as they pertain to teaching and learning, and exploring implications of policy and school initiatives for their practice (typically 1 hr);
- 2. classroom observation, in which one PLC member teaches a lesson that is observed by all other members of the PLC (a full lesson length, typically 40–80 min); and
- 3. individual coding (usually 30 min) followed by group discussion of the lesson by all PLC members, including the teacher (typically 1 to 2 hr), using the Quality Teaching pedagogical framework (see below).

Every PLC member takes their turn to teach an observed lesson. In each round, teachers are encouraged to reflect not only on that lesson, but how it relates to their own practice and to teaching at their school in general. (Gore & Bowe, 2015, p. 78)

The coding involves scoring the observed class against 5-point measures of 18 pedagogic dimensions similar to the Productive Pedagogies reviewed earlier. These dimensions are organised in three categories: 'Intellectual quality', 'quality learning environment' and 'significance'. The exercise of coding someone else's practice is not to evaluate that teacher's practice, but rather for members to articulate and share their own understanding and thinking with the group, then come to a shared understanding about how that dimension works. Having multiple dimensions 'avoids reducing the complex, multidimensional enterprise of teaching to a set of teaching skills or practices' (Gore, Lloyd, Smith, Bowe, & Ellis, 2017, p. 101).

Gore and Bowe (2015) report on an interview study with 39 new teachers who participated in Quality Teaching rounds. The participants report increased confidence, greater capacity to participate in professional learning with colleagues and 'moving from survivor to teacher, with greater confidence and a growing sense of being a colleague, of belonging' (p. 83).

In subsequent work, this team conducted a cluster randomised controlled trial involving 192 teachers in 24 schools that had participated in Quality Teaching rounds (Gore, Lloyd, Smith, Bowe, & Ellis, 2017; Gore et al., 2015). Schools were randomly allocated to trial or control groups in carefully stratified samples. They observed two lessons per teacher prior to their participation in rounds, immediately after the rounds for the treatment group, and again six months later. They found a significant and sustained positive effect on teaching quality regardless of type of school or years of teaching experience. This is strong evidence of improved quality rarely available to support investment in a professional learning intiative.

For the purposes of this project, the studies reviewed in this section offer:

 ideas to reorient mentoring conversations to pupils' learning, not just teaching process;

- enhanced role for supervising/mentor teachers in SAC settings in mentee's professional learning to embed professional learning in the particular context;
- bring different sets of people into mentoring conversations, such as peer-group and critical friendship groups;
- a rigourously tested model of professional learning that accommodates and supports novice teachers;
- a design, vocabulary and resource for professional conversations around teaching quality.

- Ahn, R. (2016). Japan's communal approach to teacher induction: Shokuin shitsu as an indispensable nurturing ground for Japanese beginning teachers. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *59*, 420-430. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2016.07.023
- Beek, G., Zuiker, I., & Zwart, R. (2019). Exploring mentors' roles and feedback strategies to analyze the quality of mentoring dialogues. *Teaching and Teacher Education, 78*, 15-27, doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2018.10.006
- Behizadeh, N., Thomas, C., & Behm Cross, S. (2017). Reframing for Social Justice: The Influence of Critical Friendship Groups on Preservice Teachers' Reflective Practice. *Journal of Teacher Education, 70*(3), 280-296. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487117737306
- Bowe, J., & Gore, J. (2017). Reassembling teacher professional development: the case for Quality Teaching Rounds. *Teachers and Teaching: Theory and Practice, 23*(3), 352-366.
- Donaldson, G. (2011). *Teaching Scotland's future: Report of a review of teacher education in Scotland*. Edinburgh: The Scotlish Government.
- Dudley, P. (2013). Teacher Learning in Lesson Study: What interaction level discourse analysis revealed about how teachers utilised imagination, tacit knowledge of teaching and fresh evidence of pupils learning, to develop practice knowledge and so enhance their pupils learning. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *34*, 107-121.
- Geeraerts, K., Tynjälä, P., Heikkinen, H. L. T., Markkanen, I., Pennanen, M., & Gijbels, D. (2015). Peer-group mentoring as a tool for teacher development. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, 38(3), 358-377. doi:10.1080/02619768.2014.983068
- Gore, J., & Bowe, J. (2015). Interrupting attrition? Re-shaping the transition from preservice to inservice teaching through Quality Teaching Rounds. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 73, 77-88.
- Gore, J., Lloyd, A., Smith, M., Bowe, J., & Ellis, H. (2017). Effects of professional development on the quality of teaching: Results from a randomised controlled trial of *Quality Teaching Rounds*. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *68*, 99-113.
- Gore, J., Smith, M., Bowe, J., Ellis, H., Lloyd, A., & Lubans, D. (2015). Quality Teaching Rounds as a professional development intervention for enhancing the quality of teaching:

  Rationale and study protocol for a cluster randomised controlled trial. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 74, 82-95.
- Helgevold, N., Næsheim-Bjørkvik, G., Østrem, S. (2015). Key focus areas and use of tools in mentoring conversations during internship in initial teacher education. *Teaching*

- and Teacher Education, 49, 128-137, doiorg.ezproxy.lib.gla.ac.uk/10.1016/j.tate.2015.03.005
- Hoffman, J.V., Mosley Wetzel, M., Maloch, B., & Greeter, E. (2015). What can we learn from studying the coaching interactions between cooperating teachers and preservice teachers? A literature review. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 52, 99-112.
- Korhonen, H., Heikkinen, H., Kiviniemi, U., Tynjälä, P. (2017). Student teachers' experiences of participating in mixed peer mentoring groups of in-service and preservice teachers in Finland. *Teaching and Teacher Education, 61*, 153-163, doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2016.10.011
- Naidoo, K. & Kirch, S.A. (2016). Candidates use a new teacher development process, transformative reflection, to identify and address teaching and learning problems in their work with children. *Journal of Teacher Education*, *67*(5), 379-391
- Newmann, F. M., & Associates (1996). *Authentic achievement: Restructuring schools for intellectual quality*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Trevethan, H., Sandretto, S. (2017). Repositioning mentoring as educative: Examining missed opportunities for professional learning. *Teaching and Teacher Education, 68*, 127-133, doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2017.08.012
- Wetzel, M., Taylor, L. & Khan Vlach, S. (2017). Dialogue in the support of learning to teach: a case study of a mentor/mentee pair in a teacher education programme. *Teaching Education*, 28 (4), 406-420, DOI: 10.1080/10476210.2017.1309016
- Webster-Wright, A. (2009). Reframing professional development through understanding authentic professional learning. *Review of Educational Research*, 79(2), 702-739.

### 10. COVID 19 research

At the time of writing, the COVID-19 virus has placed most of the world under lockdown, closing the physical space of schools, nurseries, colleges and universities for months. Education has been pushed into online mode as possible and/or home learning supported by parents, while a few schools have remained open for the most vulnerable children and children of key workers. Exam schedules have been disrupted with flow on effects in university entrance processes, creating much anxiety and uncertainty. Preparations for the eventual return of all students have considered shorter school weeks and smaller class sizes to accommodate social distancing. These changes will inevitably impact on pedagogy and curriculum and stretch school resources in a time of potential economic crisis.

As lockdown has continued, and the return to school postponed for most, the media discourse has highlighted how the more disadvantaged members of society are the least equipped to participate in online learning or home learning, and the strong likelihood that the existing attainment gap will be exacerbated. While much research has been suspended during the lockdown, 'rapid response' studies about the impact of COVID-19 are the exception. The following section reviews relevant studies that are available at this stage.

At the global scale, **UNESCO's International Commission on the Futures of Education** (2020) has released a report, 'Education in a post-COVID world: Nine ideas for public action' which takes the opportunity to revisit core principles so these are not lost in any pragmatic response to the virus. These principles include global solidarity, the rejection of gross inequalities, and the responsibility of the wealthier to support the poorer as investment in the common good. They appreciate that schools provide more than learning for children living in poverty, and fear that the hard progress made in the last decades may be lost. The reports offers nine key ideas for action, including: education is a common good that should be protected; access to education is a right; resources should be free, not controlled by profit-making interests; teachers need autonomy to respond; students should contribute to decisions; any domestic or international funding for education should be protected; scientific literacy should be prioritized; technology is a tool but not a panacea, and can exacerbate inequalities. 'It is an illusion to think that online learning is the way forward for all' (p. 8). In this way, the report puts a moral frame around any question of how to respond.

In England, the **Education Endowment Foundation (EEF)** has undertaken systematic literature reviews of what evidence is available on the impact of school closure on the attainment gap. These reviews are being updated on an ongoing basis<sup>24</sup>. The research available prior to COVID-19 typically pertained to the 'loss' of learning in reading and mathematics for young children over protracted US summer holidays, so are an 'imperfect guide' (p. 18) to the more troubling effects of the global virus event for all students and their families.

<sup>24</sup> https://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/covid-19-resources/best-evidence-on-impact-of-school-closures-on-the-attainment-gap/#closeSignup

The review published in June 2020 (Education Endowment Foundation, 2020, p.4) reports three key findings:

- 1. School closures are likely to reverse progress made to narrow the gap in the last decade;
- 2. Supporting effective remote learning will mitigate the extent to which the gap widens;
- 3. Sustained support will be needed to help disadvantaged pupils catch up.

They also highlight the likelihood of high levels of absence after schools return, and the greater risk in that for more disadvantaged pupils. The review carefully considers how the impact on the gap may be overestimated or underestimated, but concludes:

However, while efforts to support remote learning are likely to have been of considerable benefit to many children, and are likely to have reduced the overall amount of learning loss due to closures, there are indications that, overall, the remote learning that has taken place during school closures is likely to have further widened rather than narrowed the gap. (p. 18)

The report discusses implications and possible responses to help student 'regain' learning, including the need for sustained support using a variety of strategies once schools return, such as the UK government's announcement on 19 June 2020 of funding tutoring for the most disadvantaged pupils in England.

The **Institute of Fiscal Studies**, an independent economics research body in London that contributes to public policy debates, issued a briefing note in May 2020 (IFS, 2020) and full report (Andrew et al., 2020) which received wide media coverage. In partnership with the Institute of Education UCL, they conducted a survey of over 4000 parents of children aged from 4 to 15 across social strata in mid-May 2020. The survey was focused on home learning activities, the home learning resources available in different families, and 'how families and children spend their time on a term-time weekday' (Andrew et al, 2020, p.5). Though limited to simple time-on-task measures, their finds painted a stark contrast between the richest and poorer children's experience of home learning:

School closures are almost certain to increase educational inequalities. Pupils from better-off families are spending longer on home learning; they have access to more individualised resources such as private tutoring or chats with teachers; they have a better home set-up for distance learning; and their parents report feeling more able to support them. Policymakers should already be thinking about how to address the gaps in education that the crisis is widening. (IFS, 2020)

Further, the survey results found that low income parents are less likely to send their children when schools resume: 'This risks a situation where the children struggling the most to cope with home learning remain at home while their better-off classmates are back in the classroom' (IFS 2020).

Another important finding was that 'Almost 60% of the parents of primary school children and almost half of the parents of secondary school children report that they are finding it

quite or very hard to support their children's learning at home' (Andrew et al., 2020, p. 15). The difficulty could reflect either time challenges or task difficulty. This allowed the authors to claim as early as May that 'it is already clear that the COVID-19 crisis is very likely to exacerbate pre-existing inequalities in educational attainment by children's economic backgrounds' (p. 17). The conclusion reflects on how home learning might be made more equal, and which students should be given priority in a staggered return.

The Sutton Trust undertakes research and policy advocacy devoted to increasing social mobility in the UK. They have been active in documenting the impact of COVID-19 on young people's life chances in schools, apprenticeships and university access. In April 2020, they issued a report (Cullinane & Montacute, 2020) and a briefing (Sutton Trust 2020) regarding the impact of COVID-19 and school closures on schooling practices. Their treatment uses survey data from teachers in different education sectors to make evident the stark differences in provision for home learning, in particular, the enriched online resources and established online learning platforms provided by private schools compared to reliance on worksheets and workbooks in the most deprived schools, given the reduced access to online resources in the home. Teachers report variable levels and quality of schoolwork returned, with poorer sectors returning less work, and work of poorer quality. More affluent schools were able to provide more devices to support home learning, though less affluent schools reported greater need of such support. In addition, 'schools in the poorest areas are facing a situation where many of their pupils have profound challenges, including access to food, so the provision of such basic needs may be taking precedence' (p. 9).

Children in more privileged homes were reported to be spending more time in home learning and have more money spent on their learning. Private tutoring, usually the privilege of well-off families, suffered a sharp drop given social distancing, but is likely to increase as online services develop to meet demand: 'The overall effect of these changes has been to narrow the 'tuition gap', but this is likely to be temporary, as parents and tuition companies adapt to the new environment' (Cullinane & Montacute, 2020, p. 7). They document the free use of Bramble for such online provision during the lockdown. Across the various types of support schools can give students for home learning, the report draws the same conclusion: 'While children from disadvantaged students will likely need the most help at this time, they are the least likely to have access to the help and resources needed' (Cullinane & Montacute, 2020, p.2). They advocate for 'catch up' provision when schools resume, or in anticipation of schools opening, and also the very basic consideration of meal vouchers.

While the above reports are centred on English education systems, **Lundie and Law** (2020) prepared a report for Scottish Government which presented the findings and policy implications from a survey of 704 teachers, 80% of whom were teachers in Scotland. The survey explored teachers' expectations and concerns about the re-opening of schools post COVID-19 lockdown and the likelihood of various mooted measures. An important finding that has not been explored in the reports above, is the expectation by 85% of respondents that 'much of first term will be spent addressing the social and emotional impacts of social distancing and the COVID-19 pandemic' (p. 4). Here, there is an existing body of relevant

research and practice, in Scotland<sup>25</sup> and further afield, supporting teachers to address through education the impacts of a broad range of 'controversial issues', such as natural disasters, climate change, migration, war and terrorism (e.g. Oxfam 2018, Rosenberg et al., 2018, O'Toole and Freisen, 2016, Bautista et al., 2018; Mutch, 2015).

The report raises other concerns if schools remain closed or socially distanced, such as the importance of interaction with peers for early childhood socialisation, better integration with mental health services, and the provision of meaningful pastoral care. Teachers expressed their concern over children's wellbeing and safety while in lockdown and the fear that many pupils will have lost someone to COVID-91. Such experiences are expected to present as health and emotional wellbeing concerns on return to school which the majority of teachers expect to mitigate the past focus and priority on test results. Analysis of responses by school community (least deprived/most deprived) shows a much greater level of concern about physical and emotional health of students in the most deprived communities. In a similar vein, the level of concerns about home learning were much higher for 'low attaining' pupils, compared to their 'high attaining' peers (p.11). Other questions revealed high expectations amongst all teachers that the future of schooling will bring major changes, for example, in terms of embedded technology,

This is fast moving territory with new reports and recommendations emerging in the press daily. Combining the evidence of these four reports to date, all give grounds for serious concern about the impact of COVID-19 school closures on the Attainment Gap going forwards, both in the immediate home learning phase, and longer term. They provide food for thought about:

- how school might be done differently after lockdown;
- whose learning should be prioritised;
- strategies to achieve a more equitable distribution of educational resources if home learning continues so disadvantaged sectors of the community are not further disadvantaged;
- how Education Scotland might think about 'catch up' strategies for the most vulnerable students. There is perhaps a possibility for ITE students to be involved in tutoring disadvantaged students, to mutual benefit;
- the pastoral care needs precipitated by the pandemic and its economic impact on families;
- how fears about health and safety might be addressed and allayed to encourage timely return by the most vulnerable to schooling;
- renewing efforts and political momentum to address the Attainment gap and its contributing disparities.

<sup>25</sup> See for example <a href="https://scotdec.org.uk/projects/global-issues-global-subjects/">https://scotdec.org.uk/projects/global-issues-global-subjects/</a>. A European Commission funded project, 'Global issues – Global Subjects', working with Secondary teachers across 10 countries.

- Andrew, A., Cattan, S., Costa-Dias, M., Farquharson, C., Kraftmann, L. Krutikova, S. Phimister, A., & Sevilla, A., (2020) Learning during the lockdown: real-time data on children's experiences during home learning. IFS Briefing Note BN288. Full report available from: <a href="https://www.ifs.org.uk/uploads/Edited Final-BN288%20Learning%20during%20the%20lockdown.pdf">https://www.ifs.org.uk/uploads/Edited Final-BN288%20Learning%20during%20the%20lockdown.pdf</a>
- Bautista, N., Misco, T. & Quaye, S. (2018) Early childhood open-mindedness: An investigation into preservice teachers' capacity to address controversial issues. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 69(2), 154-168.
- Cullinane, C. & Montacute, R. (2020) *COVID-19 and social mobility. Impact brief #1: School Shutdown*. The Sutton Trust. Retrieved 19 June from <a href="https://www.suttontrust.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/COVID-19-Impact-Brief-School-Shutdown.pdf">https://www.suttontrust.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/COVID-19-Impact-Brief-School-Shutdown.pdf</a>
- Education Endowment Foundation, (2020) *Impact of school closures on the attainment gap:*Rapid Evidence Assessment, London: Education Endowment Foundation. Retrieved
  19 June from
  - https://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/public/files/EEF (2020) -Impact of School Closures on the Attainment Gap.pdf
- Institute for Fiscal Studies (2020). Learning during the lockdown: real-time data on children's experiences during home learning. Available at <a href="https://www.ifs.org.uk/publications/14848">https://www.ifs.org.uk/publications/14848</a>.
- Lundie, D. & Law, J. (2020). *Teachers' Responses and Expectations in the COVID-19 School Shutdown Period in the UK.* School of Interdisciplinary Studies, University of Glasgow. Retrieved 19 June from https://www.parliament.scot/S5\_Education/General%20Documents/20200526University\_of\_Glasgow\_Scotland\_teachers\_\_Survey\_Report\_Final.pdf
- Mutch, C. (2015) The role of schools in disaster settings: Learning from the 2010–2011 New Zealand earthquakes, *International Journal of Educational Development*, 41, 283-291.
- O'Toole, V., & Friesen, M. (2016) Teachers as first responders in tragedy: The role of emotion in teacher adjustment eighteen months post-earthquake, *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *59*, 57-67.
- Oxfam (2018). *Teaching Controversial Issues*. Retrieved 23 June 2020 from https://www.oxfam.org.uk/education/resources/teaching-controversial-issues
- Rosenberg, H. Ophir, Y. & Asterhan, C. (2018) A virtual safe zone: Teachers supporting teenage student resilience through social media in times of war. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 73, 35-42.
- Sutton Trust (2020). COVID-19 Impacts: School Shutdown. Report overview. Available at: <a href="https://www.suttontrust.com/our-research/coronavirus-and-social-mobility-impact-brief/">https://www.suttontrust.com/our-research/coronavirus-and-social-mobility-impact-brief/</a>.
- UNESCO International Commission on the Futures of Education, (2020). *Education in a post-COVID world: Nine ideas for public action*. Paris: UNESCO. Available at: <a href="https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000373717/PDF/373717eng.pdf.multi">https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000373717/PDF/373717eng.pdf.multi</a>